

Australian Government Cancer Australia

National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control January 2025





Statement of Acknowledgement

Cancer Australia acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people as the Traditional Custodians of Country throughout Australia. We pay our respects to Elders, past and present.

We celebrate the ongoing connections of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples to Country, culture, community, family and tradition and recognise these as integral to health, healing and wellbeing.

Cancer Australia acknowledges great diversity among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, and the contribution of the many voices, knowledge systems and experiences that guide all efforts to create a culturally safe and responsive cancer system that is equitable to all.

National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control was prepared and produced by: Cancer Australia Locked Bag 3 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012 Australia Tel: +61 2 9357 9400 Fax: +61 2 9357 9477 canceraustralia.gov.au © Cancer Australia 2025. ISBN Online: 978-1-74127-014-3

Copyright Statements

Paper-based publications

© Cancer Australia 2025

This work is copyright. You may reproduce the whole or part of this work in unaltered form for your own personal use or, if you are part of an organisation, for internal use within your organisation, but only if you or your organisation do not use the reproduction for any commercial purpose and retain this copyright notice and all disclaimer notices as part of that reproduction. Apart from rights to use as permitted by the Copyright Act 1968 or allowed by this copyright notice, all other rights are reserved and you are not allowed to reproduce the whole or any part of this work in any way (electronic or otherwise) without first being given the specific written permission from Cancer Australia to do so. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights are to be sent to the Publications and Copyright contact officer, Cancer Australia, Locked Bag 3, Strawberry Hills NSW 2012.

Internet sites

© Cancer Australia 2025

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce the whole or part of this work in unaltered form for your own personal use or, if you are part of an organisation, for internal use within your organisation, but only if you or your organisation do not use the reproduction for any commercial purpose and retain this copyright notice and all disclaimer notices as part of that reproduction. Apart from rights to use as permitted by the Copyright Act 1968 or allowed by this copyright notice, all other rights are reserved and you are not allowed to reproduce the whole or any part of this work in any way (electronic or otherwise) without first being given the specific written permission from Cancer Australia to do so. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights are to be sent to the Publications and Copyright contact officer, Cancer Australia, Locked Bag 3, Strawberry Hills NSW 2012.

Contents

National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control The Australian Cancer Plan Aim
The Australian Cancer Plan Aim
Aim
Development of the Framework
Strategic Objective 1: Prevention and early detection 12
Strategic Objective 2: Diagnosis, treatment and clinical trials
Strategic Objective 3: Supportive care2
Strategic Objective 4: Awareness and education 22
Foundational Objective 1: Research and data 33
Foundational Objective 2: Workforce and models of care 33
Foundational Objective 3: Funding, quality, and safety 33
Acknowledgements 4
Glossary 4
References 50



National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control

Personalised, equitable, culturally safe cancer care

Prevention and early detection

Genomic testing is integrated into healthcare to reduce cancer incidence and enable early detection

Diagnosis, treatment and clinical trials

Genomic testing is used to guide diagnostic and treatment decisions to deliver better outcomes for people affected by cancer

Goal

Evidence-based genomic testing is accessible to individuals and their families to support personalised prevention, risk-reduction and earlier detection of cancer.

Actions

Strategic Objectives

1.1 As the evidence is established, expand access to affordable genomic testing to enable personalised cancer prevention and riskreducing strategies.

1.2 Give priority to the establishment of evidence for genomic testing in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority population groups and increase the scope of genomic reference datasets to more accurately reflect the diversity of the Australian population.

1.3 Promote translational research into personalised risk prediction and genomic risk-based cancer screening.

1.4 Embed evidence-based culturally safe genomic testing into national cancer screening programs, to enable risk-stratified screening.

Goal

Genomics technology is incorporated into routine cancer care to inform accurate diagnosis, personalised treatment and access to clinical trials.

Actions

2.1 Enhance access to genomic testing for people affected by cancer where there is evidence of benefit, supported by information and recommendations for management.

2.2 Enable timely access to genomics-informed cancer treatments through Health Technology Assessment (HTA) processes and clinical trials.

2.3 Promote translational research into cost-effective evidencebased genomic tools to support cancer detection, genomics-guided treatments and monitoring for progressive disease or recurrence, and transition from research to routine cancer care.

2.4 Build the evidence for genomics-guided treatments, including through expanded access to appropriate clinical trials, ensuring that the specialist cancer and primary care sectors, including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services, are engaged to support equitable patient participation.

Supportive care

The experience of people affected by cancer is improved by genomics-informed cancer care

Goal

Genomics is used to optimise treatment response and minimise treatment toxicity, and people affected by cancer receive psychosocial care when needed.

Actions

3.1 Provide tailored clinical and psychosocial support to people affected by cancer, according to their genomic profile and individual preferences.

3.2 Provide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority populations with holistic navigation support and wrap-around personalised genomic cancer care.

3.3 Build understanding of how genomics influences treatment response and patient experience, integrating pharmacogenomics into routine care to enhance treatment effectiveness and minimise treatment toxicity.

4.4 Co-design resources with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 3.4 Minimise financial toxicity for patients and families associated with communities, other priority populations and consumer groups, to access to best-practice genomics-informed cancer care. raise awareness of, and address concerns about, genomic testing and genomics-informed care.

Research and data

Evidence-based and data-driven cancer genomics is incorporated into the health system

Goal

Cancer genomic research and data are representative of population diversity, underpinned by Indigenous Data Sovereignty principles, and used to inform best practice cancer care.

Actions

5.1 Promote equitable access and culturally safe participation in cancer clinical trials incorporating genomics.

5.2 Implement nationally consistent processes to collect, store, share and link cancer genomic data safely and securely.

5.3 Apply Indigenous Data Sovereignty principles to the governance of cancer genomic data across the continuum.

Workforce and models of care

An agile workforce is enabled to adapt to genomics evidence, treatment and technologies

Goal

Actions

Development of workforce capability in genomics and cultural safety are prioritised to support sustainable and equitable delivery of genomic cancer care.

6.1 Upskill all cancer health professionals to offer mainstreamed culturally safe cancer genomic testing, information and support, to meet current and future demand.

6.2 Increase patient and family access to specialist genetic counselling services as part of multidisciplinary cancer care.

6.3 Co-design education for all staff in the specialist cancer sector and primary health sector (mainstream and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services) on the role of genomics in cancer control.

6.4 Drive system level changes relating to cultural safety, with education for health services which acknowledges the complex history of genetics and genomics for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

Culture

6.5 Investigate the potential for oncology outreach services, genetics outreach services and clinical trials to be delivered through local health services to enable more cancer care to happen on Country, or closer to home.

Funding, quality and safety

Goal

Actions

7.1 Evolve Health Technology Assessment (HTA) methodologies and processes to streamline access to reimbursed genomic testing and treatment.

7.2 Apply relevant national and international policies, laws, and guidance to the design and delivery of genomic cancer care to ensure equity of experience and outcomes.

7.3 Ensure innovative models of care for integrating genomics across the cancer care continuum maintain the standard of high-value culturally safe care.

7.4 Strengthen consideration of ethical issues in relation to use of genomic testing and genomics-informed cancer treatment for all people affected by cancer.

7.5 Develop protocols to ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sovereignty over data and samples collected for cancer genomics, particularly when retained in a biobank or data registry.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander themes

Self-Determination

Figure 2. Framework on a Page

Objectives

Awareness and education

Health professionals, consumers and the community have appropriate genomics health literacy to support informed use of genomic technologies and decision-making

Goal

All health professionals are competent in using genomics in cancer care, and the community is empowered to understand the role of genomic testing and genomics-informed care.

Actions

4.1 Embed cancer genomics education into health professional curricula and ongoing professional development to build competence in using genomics in cancer care.

4.2 Develop tools for the specialist cancer workforce and primary care, including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services, to support shared decision-making with patients about the use of genomics in cancer care.

4.3 Develop awareness campaigns about cancer genomics, including in community spaces, GP waiting rooms and community pharmacies.

Genomics is integrated safely, consistently and cost-effectively across the cancer care continuum

Ethical, legal, financial and regulatory considerations are addressed as part of the design and expansion of best-practice genomics-informed cancer care.

Capacity Building

Access

The Australian Cancer Plan

Cancer outcomes in Australia are among the best in the world, but this is not the story for all Australians. There are significant disparities in cancer outcomes among specific groups in our society.

The Australian Cancer Plan (the Plan) is designed to improve cancer outcomes for all Australians, and particularly for those groups whose health outcomes are poorest. Achieving equity in cancer outcomes will be a fundamental measure of success for the Plan and will align Australia with global calls to improve cancer outcomes for all people.

The National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control (the Framework) has been developed under the Plan's Strategic Objective to deliver <u>Maximised Cancer Prevention & Early Detection</u> however the Framework applies across the entire cancer care continuum and to all the Plan's Strategic Objectives. The Framework shares the vision of world-class cancer outcomes and experiences for all Australians, as well as the Plan's <u>guiding principles</u>.

- **Person-centred:** the Plan is designed with, and for, all <u>people affected by cancer</u>. This includes people at risk of cancer, people diagnosed with cancer, and their families and carers.
- **Equity-focused:** the need for equity in cancer outcomes and experience is at the centre of the Plan. If the Plan does not 'shift the dial' for people whose outcomes are poorest, it will not be successful.
- **Future-focused:** the Plan addresses both current and future cancer and health trends and challenges, so Australia can take advantage of emerging opportunities to improve cancer outcomes.
- **Strengths-based:** the Plan adopts a strengths-based approach which identifies gaps and issues in the system, and builds on the strengths, opportunities, and the diversity of Australia's population groups and our cancer care system.
- **Evidence- and data-driven:** the Plan is evidence-informed, and promotes better, ongoing use of data to drive, understand, and evaluate the performance of Australia's cancer care system.
- All cancers: the Plan addresses issues relevant to all cancer types, with a focus on addressing disparity of experience and outcome.
- **Encompassing the cancer control continuum:** the Plan addresses the whole continuum of cancer care spanning prevention and early detection, diagnosis, treatment, survivorship care, end-of-life care, and supportive care.
- **Collaborative:** the implementation of the Plan, as with its development, will encourage and involve system-wide, cross-sector, inter-jurisdictional, and national collaboration.

Aim

The use of genomics in cancer care is transforming our approach to cancer prevention, screening, diagnosis and treatment. Genomic medicineⁱ and personalised medicineⁱⁱ in cancer care are rapidly evolving with huge potential to transform outcomes for Australians with cancer. The Framework will guide policy to enable equitable access to <u>genomic medicine</u> for all Australians affected by cancer.

Equity

The Framework is underpinned by <u>Cancer Australia's Framework for Health Equity in Cancer Outcomes</u>, which focuses on:

- engaging and empowering priority population groups
- tailoring and co-designing health programs, services, systems, and strategies to accommodate needs
- integrating and enhancing the experience of consumers including their carers and families across the care continuum.

Introduction to genomics across the cancer continuum

Cancer is the leading cause of death and largest contributor to disease burden in Australia.¹ Use of genomics in prevention, early detection, diagnostic methods and personalised treatments all have potential to improve survival rates and reduce the impact of cancer for all Australians.

The term 'genomics' refers to both the study of single genes (genetics) and the study of an individual's entire genetic makeup or <u>genome</u> and how it interacts with environmental or non-genetic factors. In this framework, the terms genomics and genomic testing are used throughout to include genetics and genetic testing, to acknowledge the cross-over of issues between genomics and genetics.

Some Australians are more at risk of developing cancer than others. Genomic testing, which is a type of test that identifies a change in a person's <u>chromosomes or genes</u>, is an emerging opportunity to better identify an individual's risk of certain cancers.² For example, the finding of a BRCA gene variant is associated with an increased risk of developing breast, ovarian and other cancers. Identifying individuals at increased risk of developing cancer can support personalised prevention, risk-reducing interventions and earlier detection. This has significant potential to reduce the development of cancer and reduce the risk of later stage cancers, particularly among high-risk individuals, and improve overall survival rates.

After diagnosis of cancer, genomic testing can help determine mutations or variants in genes that drive various cancer behaviours; from how aggressive the cancer may be to whether it is likely to spread and how it will respond to treatment.³ Genetic and genomic testing technologies are being continually improved and becoming more precise, accessible and cost-effective.

'Omic' technologies include genomics (genes), transcriptomics (mRNA), proteomics (proteins) and metabolomics (metabolites), and these have a broad array of potential applications in oncology.⁴ This Framework focuses on genomics, but it is a fast-moving field and the principles of equitable access in this Framework also apply to these related technologies. Other biomarker-driven technologies and treatments will impact cancer care by improving

i 'Genomic medicine' is a medical discipline that involves using a person's genomic information as part of their clinical care.

ii '<u>Personalised medicine</u>' (also known as precision medicine) uses the knowledge of genetics, including the specific links between genes and some diseases, and between genes and the effectiveness of some medicines or treatments, to predict disease development and to influence decisions about lifestyle choices or to tailor treatment to an individual.

characterisation of tumours, identifying therapeutic targets and informing pre-clinical research models and clinical trials.

By studying genes and their functions, and how they interact with each other and with the environment, genomics may lead to improved understanding of how cancer forms and new ways to prevent, diagnose, and treat cancer more effectively.

Cancer genomics

Cancer is a genetic disease; it occurs when changes in DNA inside cells cause these cells to start growing and dividing uncontrollably. These changes can be inherited from a parent (germline variants) or develop at some point in a person's life (somatic variants).

Inherited cancer predisposition syndromes, such as Lynch Syndrome which increases a person's risk of colorectal, endometrial and other cancers,⁵ are caused by a single inherited variant. International research has shown that 10% of adults with cancer have a disease-causing (pathogenic) germline variant,^{6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15} with higher rates found in people with rare and advanced cancers.^{7,10,15} As our knowledge improves and the number of genes screened increases, this proportion is likely to continue to increase. For conditions such as Li-Fraumeni syndrome, which increases a person's risk of sarcoma, breast, brain and other cancers,⁵ surveillance based on *TP53* variant status enables early detection of cancer which is associated with increased survival.^{16,17,18,19}

The combined effect of several small genetic changes which are called single <u>nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs</u>), can also increase a person's risk of developing cancer. Although the effect of each individual change is small, SNPs can be combined into a single measure of cancer risk, known as a <u>polygenic risk score (PRS, or PGS</u>). PRS is an emerging technology, currently performed in limited National Association of Testing Authorities (NATA) - accredited laboratories in Australia,²⁰ and testing is still largely experimental.²¹

Knowledge of germline variants can also be used to guide treatment decisions, resulting in better outcomes than standard therapy.²² For instance, people with BRCA1- or BRCA2-positive breast, ovarian and pancreatic cancers are more likely to respond to medications called poly-ADP ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitors, such as olaparib.^{22,23,24}

Variants that originate within the tumour (somatic variants) drive the development, growth, and invasion of cancer. By testing the tumour for these variants, relevant variant-matched treatments can be identified.²⁵ This is known as <u>precision oncology</u>.

Cancer Genomics in Adults

The majority of adult cancers (between 75 and 95%) have one or more somatic variants in a cancer-associated gene. Some of these alterations can be targeted with approved or experimental therapies and are known as "actionable variants"²⁶ (identified in between 27 and 88% of patients).^{6,13,14,15,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38,39,40} The identification of actionable variants may inform use of targeted treatments, eligibility for enrolment into genomic clinical trials and may lead to reduced side-effects of treatment and improved survival outcomes. As our knowledge improves, more cancers are found to have actionable variants.

<u>Circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA)</u> are short fragments of DNA shed by tumours that are present in bodily fluids, including blood, urine and cerebrospinal fluid. ctDNA can be detected using a <u>liquid biopsy</u> (generally a blood test) that identifies whether cancer is present, what type of cancer is present, and at what stage.⁴¹ Applications might include detecting and profiling <u>cancers of an unknown primary (CUP)</u> or tumours inaccessible for biopsy, monitoring treatment effectiveness, detecting residual disease after treatment, and screening for cancer in the general population.

An emerging field of interest is <u>cancer vaccines</u>, which can be utilised to prevent or treat cancer. Prophylactic, or preventive, cancer vaccines, such as the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine, reduce the risk of particular types of cancers by preventing infections that could lead to cancer.⁴² Therapeutic cancer vaccines are used to treat existing cancers by training the immune system to recognise and attack cancer cells.⁴³ There are many types of therapeutic cancer vaccines in development. These vaccines use a range of technologies including peptides, DNA, RNA, cell-based or viral technology. The technology that has shown the most promise is the mRNA vaccine. This type of vaccine has been widely used to prevent or reduce the impact of COVID-19. One of the key aspects is that these vaccines can be developed rapidly and have shown excellent safety in the clinical trials setting.⁴⁴ The first trials looking at mRNA vaccines are underway in cancers including melanoma,⁴⁵ and pancreatic cancer.⁴⁶

Cancer Genomics in Children, Adolescents and Young Adults

Approximately 18% of children, adolescents and young adults with cancer are found to carry germline variants associated with hereditary cancer syndromes. Germline variants are more common in solid tumours than blood cancers, and rare cancers are associated with the highest incidence of germline variants.

Many <u>pathogenic variants</u> in early childhood cancers arise years prior to diagnosis and are either inherited from either parent or arise in early embryonic development.^{47, 48, 49} In children, adolescents and young adults with newly diagnosed cancers, between 50 and 95% have been found to carry germline or somatic variants, between 16 and 57% of these are variants which inform prognosis and between 25 and 65% may lead to specific genomics-informed treatments.^{50, 51, 52, 53, 54}

Equity of outcomes

The rapid advancement of cancer genomics, while beneficial to many populations, has the potential to increase and embed existing inequities. Evidence highlights that access to genomic testing in the cancer context is not currently equitable,⁵⁵ and that populations with less access to genomics are the same groups as those that are already impacted by social and cultural determinants of health.⁵⁶

The Australian Cancer Plan (The Plan) considers an intersectional and health equity approach for all priority population groups. This is more than recognising the multiple backgrounds, experiences, and ways people identify. It acknowledges that membership of multiple priority population groups compounds complexity and disparity in accessing equitable and appropriate care. Ten priority population groups are represented in the Plan: *Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, People living in rural and remote areas, People from Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) backgrounds, Children, People living in low socioeconomic groups, People living with disability, People living with a mental illness, Adolescents and young adults, Older Australians, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex, Queer and Asexual (LGBTIQA+) people.*

Populations who face different outcomes and experiences in relation to genomics in cancer care have been identified as part of the development of the Framework:

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Every day around five Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are diagnosed with cancer.⁵⁷ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians have a slightly higher rate of cancer diagnosis and are approximately 40% more likely to die from cancer than non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians.⁵⁸ This likely reflects cancer health care that has not been designed to respond to the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples affected by cancer.⁵⁹ Historical unethical practices in relation to theft and misuse of genetic material, and existing systemic racism and structural discrimination has led to a lack of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community trust in genomic research, which has the potential to further exacerbate inequity. The strengths of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures have continued to evolve despite the ongoing impacts of colonisation, systemic discrimination and intergenerational trauma, including through the Stolen Generations.⁶⁰ Research is ongoing to understand the role of <u>epigenetic</u> mechanisms in how intergenerational trauma can affect health outcomes. The enablers include improving <u>cultural safety</u> in cancer services and provision of care closer to home. The barriers include experiences of racism in cancer care and costs of care.⁶¹

Culturally safe genomics-guided personalised cancer care offers an opportunity to reduce cancer health disparities experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. For this to happen in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, services must be adaptive to fit specific community needs, with recognition of the context of historic and contemporary barriers to accessing medical treatments and clinical trial participation.

People living in rural and remote areas

People living with cancer in rural and remote areas experience poorer cancer outcomes compared to those living in metropolitan areas. Barriers to accessing cancer care include distance as well as health workforce shortages in remote and very remote areas.^{62,63} Access to new technologies, including genomics, may not be made immediately available in rural and remote Australia, resulting in out-of-pocket costs as people travel to access care. Due to this distance, alternate models of care, including telehealth may be preferred by people living in rural and remote areas.⁶⁴

Children, adolescents and families

Children and adolescents with cancer, and their families, face unique experiences when it comes to the use of genomics in cancer control. The <u>ZERO Childhood Cancer program</u> has demonstrated how access to precision medicine for children with high-risk cancers may be feasible and beneficial for these children, and in 2023, the program was expanded to be made accessible for all children with cancer. The finding of a cancer-causing genetic alteration may have unique considerations for family members, including reproductive carrier screening and early detection of cancers through surveillance.¹⁶

People from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

People from diverse backgrounds experience greater barriers to accessing culturally responsive care and information due to communication barriers, limited support to enable health literacy, and cultural differences.⁶⁵ Genomic resources produced in English may not address the needs of people from CALD backgrounds including addressing language barriers, cultural factors, and perceptions of genomics.⁶⁶ In turn, this may impact communication channels between patients and health professionals and impact patient understanding when making decisions about genomics in cancer care.

People with rare cancers

Genomics may benefit patients with rare and less common cancers, who might otherwise miss out on tumourspecific clinical trials and treatment pathways. Genomic testing of a person's tumour can inform personalised treatment and clinical trial options. Additionally, the increasing knowledge base for genetic conditions potentially linked to rare and less common cancers may allow for risk-stratified screening programs.

Future state

The Australian Cancer Plan has a ten-year time horizon for achievement of world-class cancer outcomes for all Australians. In line with the Plan, the ideal future system will be one where the following elements of genomics in cancer control are being delivered.

1. Equitable access to genomic testing

Evidence-based genomic testing is available to all Australian cancer patients who would benefit from it. The benefits of genomic testing may include the following:

- confirming, refining or challenging a diagnosis
- determining whether a particular treatment is indicated
- determining the risk of cancer or the expected course of the disease (prognostic value)
- identifying familial cancer risk
- providing information for the person (the value of knowing).

In a future system, mainstreamingⁱⁱⁱ of testing will facilitate equitable access to genomics-informed cancer care and delivery of optimal care as close to home and as safely as possible. The genomic testing (single gene, gene panel or comprehensive genomic profiling) will be undertaken in NATA-accredited laboratories, supported by a skilled multidisciplinary clinical and bioinformatics workforce, and digital and laboratory infrastructure.

2. Equitable access to genomics-guided treatment

Access to genomics-guided medicines is provided to all those who are found to have an actionable variant for whom a matched therapy is available. This is achieved by genomic testing, and the availability of a funded treatment that is biomarker-driven ('tumour agnostic') instead of diagnosis-driven (based on tumour histology and primary cancer location).

Sustainable funding models are in place to support equitable cost-effective access to genomic testing and genomic medicines. These will build on current funding mechanisms, which include Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) items, activity-based funding under the National Health Reform Agreement (NHRA), other state and territory arrangements, and private-payer arrangements.

All efforts to develop new cancer genomic interventions for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are linked to a robust public health systems approach with input and leadership from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to avoid widening the equity gap.⁵⁹

iii 'Mainstreaming' refers to genomics testing being ordered by clinicians not primarily trained in genetics. In the broader sense it refers competency in genomics across all levels of the health system including oncology health professionals, primary care, nursing and allied health.

Development of the Framework

The development of this Framework was informed by an evidence review of national and international literature and stakeholder engagement, with oversight from a multidisciplinary <u>Expert Advisory Group and Indigenous</u> <u>Governance Group</u>.

The evidence review aimed to:

- 1. Evaluate the current and potential use of genomics in cancer control.
- 2. Summarise the ethical, legal, and social implications of cancer genomics.
- 3. Review models of care for providing genomic testing for prevention and treatment of cancer.
- 4. Explore the economic costs of cancer genomics to health systems and consumers.

Consultation

Consultation with priority population stakeholders was undertaken in August 2024 via virtual focus groups for children, young people and families, rural and remote, culturally and linguistically diverse, and rare cancer communities. In-person workshops with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community members, health care providers, cancer patients, and community-controlled Aboriginal health service representatives were undertaken across Australia between June to October 2024.

The key themes emerging from consultation with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and the draft objectives, goals and actions were tested with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander stakeholders at a workshop in October 2024, to ensure that perspectives and needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities are embedded in the Framework. Key themes are reflected in the 'Framework at-a-glance' diagram. These themes of Self-determination, Culture, Capacity Building and Access are highlighted in the outer circle of the 'Framework at-a-glance' and are embedded across the objectives, goals and actions of the Framework.

- Self-determination
 - Uphold the importance of informed decision-making about genomic testing and personalised cancer care. Ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have self-determination over their biological samples (biospecimens) and genomic data in health care and research.
- Culture
 - Acknowledge the importance of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture and identity, as it intersects with genomics in cancer care. The intersection of culture and genomics is complex, relating to family engagement in cancer care, family and genomic testing, and family history and genomics.
- Capacity Building
 - Provide education and raise awareness for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health workforce and communities on genomics in cancer control.
- Access
 - Strengthen enablers and reduce barriers for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people accessing cancer genomic services.

Implementation

Providing equitable personalised cancer care is a shared responsibility that extends beyond the boundaries of any one organisation or the specific domain of the health and social sectors. Achieving the ambitions of the Framework requires sector-wide collaboration and partnerships between governments, the private health sector, consumers, non-government organisations, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander stakeholders and leaders, researchers, health professionals, health services, professional colleges and regulators.

The implementation plan will be developed in collaboration with Government and key stakeholders. It will outline ongoing and upcoming activities to achieve the actions within the Framework and identify stakeholders who will lead the implementation activities.

Alignment with overarching Commonwealth policy

In developing the Framework, consideration has also been given to existing Commonwealth policy and programs to avoid duplication, strengthen alignment, and leverage the broader genomics agenda to optimise outcomes.

National Health Genomics Policy Framework 2018 - 2021

The <u>National Health Genomics Policy Framework 2018 – 2021</u> is being reviewed and updated by the Health Technology and Genomics Collaboration (HTGC) as part of its 2025 workplan, led by the Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care in collaboration with state and territory health departments.

The aim of this overarching framework is to provide a consistent national and strategic view for integrating genomics into the Australian health system. It aims to address the lack of coordination of activities across Australia and is designed to drive national effort on agreed priorities, and address policy issues and challenges.

On 15 November 2024, the Australian Government announced the establishment of Genomics Australia from 1 July 2025 to provide national leadership and coordination to drive the integration of genomics into the Australian health system. The new national body will support the transition from a research focus to clinical service delivery, where efficiencies and better health outcomes for all Australians can be achieved.

The National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Plan

The NACCHO Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Plan was developed for the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health (ACCH) sector to change cancer experiences and create a new foundation for partnership in Australia's national approach to cancer control. To develop this Plan, NACCHO undertook extensive consultations with the ACCH sector and other stakeholders across the country. Consultations highlighted the need to focus on structural reform including sustainable funding, increasing accessibility of services and ensuring mainstream cancer centres are culturally safe and responsive. NACCHO also learned from the lived experience of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander individuals, their families and Community leaders.

National Agreement on Closing the Gap

The Australian Cancer Plan and its priority initiatives (including this Framework) support and uphold the priority reforms of the National Agreement on Closing the Gap⁶⁷ to enable Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and governments to work together, and to overcome the inequality experienced by Aboriginal and Torres

Strait Islander people so that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people can achieve life outcomes equal to all Australians.

Framework structure

This Framework is comprised of four strategic objectives which span the cancer care continuum:

- Prevention and early detection
- Diagnosis, treatment and clinical trials
- Supportive care
- Awareness and education

The strategic objectives are supported by three foundational objectives which have a genomic-specific lens on wider health system structures and functions:

- Research and data
- Workforce and models of care
- Funding, quality and safety

Strategic Objective 1: Prevention and early detection

Ambition Statement

Genomic testing is integrated into healthcare to reduce cancer incidence and enable early detection.

Goal

Evidence-based genomic testing is accessible to individuals and their families to support personalised prevention, risk reduction and earlier detection of cancer.

Actions

1.1 As the evidence is established, expand access to affordable genomic testing to enable personalised cancer prevention and risk-reducing strategies.

1.2 Give priority to the establishment of evidence for genomic testing in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority population groups and increase the scope of genomic reference datasets to more accurately reflect the diversity of the Australian population.

1.3 Promote translational research into personalised risk prediction and genomic risk-based cancer screening.

1.4 Embed evidence-based culturally safe genomic testing into national cancer screening programs, to enable risk-stratified screening.

The use of genomic testing can enhance efforts to prevent cancer, and detect it earlier, resulting in improved cancer outcomes. Where the evidence is established, access to genomic testing should be expanded to optimise personalised cancer prevention and risk reduction. This needs to be guided by co-design, with a focus on embedding health promotion and strengthening health literacy to ensure existing inequities are not worsened, and that diverse populations have equitable access to testing and risk-reducing strategies. In Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, the focus of genomic testing for risk of cancer needs to be framed as part of collective community prevention, rather than simply for the individual.

Genetic testing before a cancer diagnosis enables a person to undertake risk-reducing behaviours, reducing their risk of developing cancer, and enabling diagnosis at an earlier stage through surveillance.^{68, 69,70,71} Beyond the individual, cascade testing (i.e. predictive testing in unaffected blood relatives) can enhance the benefits of genetic testing by empowering family members to also undertake risk-reducing interventions and surveillance.

The Human Genetics Society of Australasia recommends that genetic testing in children should only be for conditions that manifest in childhood and where there are options to treat, monitor or prevent the condition.⁷² For cancer, this might mean cascade testing, where siblings of children with cancer with identified germline variants are tested to identify their risk of developing cancer.

In the future, <u>genetic markers</u> may be incorporated into personalised risk assessments in risk-stratified populationbased cancer screening programs, to better target screening interventions, maximising the benefits and minimising harms of screening.

Explanatory text for actions

1.1 As the evidence is established, expand access to affordable genomic testing to enable personalised cancer prevention and risk reducing strategies.

Germline genomic testing is highly likely to be cost-effective for the prevention and early detection of breast and ovarian cancer, colorectal and endometrial cancer.⁷³ In families with hereditary cancer predisposition, cascade testing allows for risk-reducing interventions such as risk-reducing medication (chemoprevention), prophylactic surgery, and customised screening for those who carry a cancer predisposition genetic variant, thereby facilitating early detection, and resulting in better outcomes.^{68, 69, 70, 74}

In Australia, genetic testing for <u>hereditary cancer syndromes</u> in adults is currently based on agreed criteria that includes personal and family history.⁷⁵ Guidance for health professionals ordering genetic testing, including specific heritable pathogenic variants, is available via the digital EviQ resource.⁷⁶ However, it has been noted that more than half of adults with cancer with identified germline variants may not have met the clinical criteria for genetic testing prior to their diagnosis.^{7,77} Optimal selection criteria (based on evidence of clinical- and cost-effectiveness) for genetic testing for people unaffected by cancer, could improve outcomes by enabling people to undertake preventive actions against cancer risk and surveillance for earlier detection of cancer.⁷⁸

The Australian Government's <u>Population Based Screening Framework</u> sets out the principles of screening programs and informs decision makers about the key issues to consider when deciding whether to introduce a screening program.⁷⁹ The Population Based Screening Framework is currently being reviewed to better guide the incorporation of genomics into population screening programs.

Moving forward, as our understanding of the interaction between an individual's germline polygenic variants and certain somatic variants which drive the development and growth of a cancer increases, screening for these polygenic variants will also become increasingly important in personalised cancer prevention and risk-reducing strategies.

1.2 Give priority to the establishment of evidence for genomic testing in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority population groups and increase the scope of genomic reference datasets to more accurately reflect the diversity of the Australian population.

The diversity of the human genome is not currently reflected in genomic databases which are used to benchmark genomic testing. For minority populations this can potentially reduce the applicability of conclusions of genomic testing and exacerbate existing inequities.⁸⁰

There are multiple reasons underpinning Eurocentric bias within genomic datasets, including European cohorts being in many cases easier and more affordable to access. In Australia, the ongoing effects of colonisation combined with historically poor research practices has created widespread distrust of genomics and genomic researchers, and contributed to a reduction in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander participation in research.^{81,82} In this context, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have historically been excluded from genomic research, leading to downstream exclusion from clinical benefits.⁸³ A pharmacogenomic study with Tiwi Islander participants identified variants important for informing treatment recommendations, including for cancer therapeutics such as thiopurines and tamoxifen.⁸⁴ Given the diversity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, these findings highlight the importance of broader engagement to produce data relevant for all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians.

The establishment of diverse genomic datasets needs to address the systemic barriers that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people encounter when participating in clinical trials and precision medicine research; the potential for data misuse; and provide tangible benefits for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Consideration needs to be given to Indigenous ways of knowing, being and doing, ensuring genomic research reflects values, priorities, and lived experiences of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people rather than being solely defined by non-Indigenous researchers.

Lack of representation in genomic reference datasets is not limited to First Nations Australians. The majority of genomics studies including genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have been conducted in individuals of European descent (86.3%), followed by East Asian (5.9%), African (1.1%), South Asian (0.8%), and Hispanic/Latino (0.08%) populations.⁸⁵ The extent to which mistrust plays a role in the underrepresentation of CALD Australians with non-European ancestry in research is less clear than for First Nations Australians.⁸⁶ More work such as the OurDNA project,⁸⁷ is needed to ensure diverse representation including people affected by cancer in CALD communities. OurDNA, funded under the Government's Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF), is partnering with communities from the Pacific, South-East Asia, the Middle East, and East Africa collect and then securely and anonymously share de-identified genetic data from more than 20,000 diverse participants.

1.3 Promote translational research into personalised risk prediction and genomic risk-based cancer screening.

There is growing interest in offering genetic testing for high-risk germline variants, circulating tumour cells and tumour DNA to asymptomatic people in the general population.

The DNA Screen pilot ⁸⁸ study offered genetic testing to 10,000 young adults in Australian aged 18 to 40 to demonstrate a proof of concept for population screening for DNA variants that increase the risk of developing certain types of cancer and heart disease, and to provide participants with genetic counselling and support. The two cancer types, hereditary breast and ovarian cancer and Lynch syndrome, were selected as they are relatively common and evidence-based risk-management options are available.⁸⁹ The findings of this study suggest that offering combined genomic screening for high-risk conditions to young adults would be cost-effective in the Australian public healthcare system. However, the researchers note that other issues, including psychosocial impacts, ethical and societal issues, and implementation challenges also need consideration prior to population-wide delivery.

Multi-cancer early detection (MCED) tests measure circulating tumour cells and tumour DNA that may identify the presence of multiple cancer types from different organ sites.⁹⁰ Tests such as the GRAIL-Galleri-MCED test are proposed as a screening blood test that captures circulating tumour DNA and in combination with machine learning, aim to identify the presence of multiple different cancers and their location. Further research is required to demonstrate the tests' sensitivity, accuracy, impact on cancer-specific mortality, and cost-effectiveness.⁹¹

Translational research into personalised risk prediction, ensuring it addresses the distinct genomic landscapes of adult and paediatric cancers, would allow the development of the most effective tests, surveillance, and treatment, for every patient.

Translational research is required to demonstrate clinical and cost-effectiveness, accessibility and acceptability of these genomic tests to all Australian communities, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australian communities.

1.4 Embed evidence-based culturally safe genomic testing into national cancer screening programs, to enable risk-stratified screening.

In Australia, polygenic risk scores (PRS) are already being used in clinical trials to refine breast cancer risk in people carry a variant in a high-risk gene such as BRCA 1 or 2 and to explain risk in people with breast cancer who do not carry a variant in a high-risk gene. PRS are being increasingly utilised in research for risk refinement in other diverse cancer types. In the near future, it is likely PRS may be used as a tool in conjunction with traditional risk factors for population-based risk stratification and wider genomics-informed cancer care.

Personalised genomic risk information based on a PRS or a known genetic variant which increases risk of cancer

might be used to stratify participants within population cancer screening programs. This may be used to identify individuals who might start screening at an earlier age or be triaged to a different screening technology or a different screening interval. However, several key challenges for population-wide implementation of PRS testing remain.⁹²

Australian research includes the Australian Cancer Risk Study which aims to develop cancer risk prediction tools,⁹³ and an interventional study on the impact of personal genomic risk information on melanoma prevention behaviours, which improved some skin cancer prevention and early detection behaviours in trial participants.⁹⁴

International research has included assessment of a cell-free DNA (cfDNA) blood-based test to improve bowel cancer screening adherence, to detect bowel cancer earlier, and to reduce bowel cancer–related mortality.⁹⁵ Other research has considered use of molecular biomarkers in lung cancer screening to improve the selection of individuals undergoing screening, and characterisation of nodules found during low dose computed tomography (CT)-based lung cancer screening.⁹⁶Cultural safety must be embedded at systemic, organisational, and clinical levels through co-design and clear accountability measures. Tailored solutions are essential for populations without a known family history, such as the Stolen Generation survivors and their descendants, to ensure equitable access.

Stakeholder Input

Stakeholders emphasised the role for the Framework to prioritise equity of access to genetic testing and risk-reducing interventions for priority population groups.

Stakeholders highlighted the importance of genomics services that are locally available and supported to facilitate access to culturally safe care.

Stakeholders supported broadening indications for genomic profiling across priority population groups, reducing wait times and out-of-pocket costs to promote early detection.

Stakeholders called for appropriate training of the healthcare workforce, in particular GPs, nurses, and cancer care health professionals, to support communication around genomic testing.

Stakeholder Quotes

"Prevention programs. Because if you look at the breast screening, the Beautiful Shawl Project, which is very, very successful and brought a lot of partners together, it's opened up the door for a lot of women to have their screening safely"- Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"For all children who are at increased risk, identify them in a timely manner, then have a trained workforce who can undertake it [genomic testing and treatment] and monitor them for a long time" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"The way to improve equity is to really ensure access exists, that the knowledge and the expertise and the professional growth and development of those that can perform the tests have the skills and the expertise to do this" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Stakeholders highlighted that access is fundamental for genomics in cancer control. Challenges such as accessing genomic testing services across geographic locations and different health care providers were identified.

People living in rural and remote areas

Stakeholders identified that there was limited access to genomic testing for people living in rural and remote areas. Stakeholders identified that greater accessibility to genomic testing services is needed to reduce waiting times and out-of-pocket costs for these services for people living in rural and remote areas.

Children, adolescents and families

Stakeholders identified the need for greater access to genomic testing for children, adolescents and young people who are at higher risk of developing cancer due to a genetic predisposition and other factors. This includes establishing indications for genomic testing for adolescent and young adults to acknowledge the unique differences between adolescent and young adult cohorts, and children and adults.

People from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

Stakeholders identified that improved communication about genomic testing with individuals from diverse backgrounds is required. This included ensuring accessible and culturally appropriate communication about the role of genomics in identifying cancer risk, and addressing fears and myths.

People with rare cancers

Stakeholders identified the need to reduce waiting times and out-of-pocket costs for genetic testing for people with rare cancers. This includes broadening indications for testing for both germline and somatic variants, and screening for secondary cancers.

Links to the Australian Cancer Plan

- Maximising cancer prevention and early detection Australian Cancer Plan
- <u>1.2.1: Deliver cancer prevention and health promotion activities, including healthy lifestyles, immunisation,</u> and population screening participation, co-designed and tailored to a range of settings. - Australian Cancer <u>Plan</u>
- <u>1.2.4: Undertake ongoing assessment of the evidence for risk-based, cost-effective population cancer</u> <u>screening. - Australian Cancer Plan</u>
- <u>1.5.3: Implement new, and improve existing, evidenced-based, risk-stratified cancer screening programs.</u> <u>Australian Cancer Plan</u>
- <u>1.5.5: Increase access to and uptake of health assessments through Medicare for cancer prevention and early detection for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Australian Cancer Plan</u>
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people Australian Cancer Plan

Other relevant links

• Population-based screening framework - Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care

Strategic Objective 2: Diagnosis, treatment and clinical trials

Ambition Statement

Genomic testing is used to guide diagnostic and treatment decisions to deliver better outcomes for people affected by cancer.

Goal

Genomics technology is incorporated into routine cancer care to inform accurate diagnosis, personalised treatment and access to clinical trials.

Actions

2.1 Enhance access to genomic testing for people affected by cancer where there is evidence of benefit, supported by information and recommendations for management.

2.2 Enable timely access to genomics-informed cancer treatments through Health Technology Assessment (HTA) processes and clinical trials.

2.3 Promote translational research into cost-effective evidence-based genomic tools to support cancer detection, genomics-guided treatments and monitoring for progressive disease or recurrence, and transition from research to routine cancer care.

2.4 Build the evidence for genomics-guided treatments, including through expanded access to appropriate clinical trials, ensuring that the specialist cancer and primary care sectors, including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services, are engaged to support equitable patient participation.

Genomic testing can be used to guide diagnostic and treatment decisions, resulting in better outcomes than standard diagnostic tools and therapies. Routine integration of genomic testing based on evidence of benefit is critical to give patients access to the best treatments for their cancer, maximising treatment effectiveness and reducing treatment toxicity. Genomics is a rapidly evolving field, and as evidence of benefit and cost-effectiveness emerges, clinical applications will evolve.

Capacity to deliver genomics-informed cancer care is highly dependent on the support of a high-quality, timely genomics pathology service and bioinformaticians to support the information flows, safe storage and interpretation of results.

Genomics clinical trials accelerate knowledge gathering and provide options for cancer patients when other therapies have failed or are yet to be approved. Currently, access to matched therapies in children and adults in Australia is largely facilitated through clinical trials.^{39,40,97} For children in Australia, integration of research with clinical care has enabled widespread uptake of new technologies and data-informed care. Efforts now need to focus on bringing these therapies from the research setting into routine clinical care, while retaining the benefit of this integration.

Nationally coordinated and consistent investment into genomic cancer research and clinical trials is key to ensuring Australia's future research agenda is focused on patient priorities. There is scope to increase the

translation of genomic research into clinical outcomes and improve the rate of research commercialisation, raising the potential for sustainable funding for cancer research. There are also opportunities to expand genomic research on critical topics and to priority population groups, and to bring the national research agenda in line with areas that deliver the most value. Optimally, implementation would be supported by collection of genomic data 'in practice' to progress research. This aligns with the HTA Review report recommendation on improving use of real-world data (RWD) and real-world evidence (RWE).

Explanatory text for actions

2.1 Enhance access to genomic testing for people affected by cancer where there is evidence of benefit, supported by information and recommendations for management.

The benefits of genomic testing may include the following:

- confirming, refining or challenging a diagnosis
- determining whether a particular treatment is indicated
- determining the risk of cancer or the expected course of the disease (prognostic value)
- identifying familial cancer risk
- providing information for the person (the value of knowing)

As evidence of effectiveness becomes available, the use of <u>gene expression profiling (GEP)</u> testing and tumour <u>genomic</u> <u>profiling</u> may maximise treatment effectiveness and reduce treatment toxicity, leading to improved cancer outcomes.

GEP tests are an emerging technology which measures the pattern of specific genes expressed in cancer cells. GEP tests can be used at diagnosis to add to clinical and pathology information to assess risk of disease recurrence and to guide management.

Genomic profiling of the tumour allows identification of potential actionable somatic variants in the tumour that may enable a specific matched treatment or enrolment to a clinical trial. Research to date on comprehensive genomic profiling and matched therapies has been largely focused on advanced cancers in patients with poor prognoses. Patients with advanced cancer where a targetable variant is identified report reduced distress.⁹⁸

Genomic profiling in adults with cancer has revealed that between 31 and 48% patients have at least one matched therapy available to them; however only a third of these patients receive it, generally due to deterioration of their condition.^{6,13,14,15,27,28,30,32,34,35,36,37,39,40,97,99,100,101,102,103,104} Despite lower profiling success rates in cancers of unknown primary,³⁰ these patients are more likely to have actionable variants (91%), and an available matched therapy (41%).³⁰ Patients and health professionals view tumour profiling positively,^{105,106,107} although patient willingness to pay decreases when out of pocket costs are higher.¹⁰⁸

While the types of genetic variants in childhood cancers differ from variants in adult cancers,¹⁰⁹ the benefit of matched therapy remains. Between 25 and 65% of children have therapeutically relevant somatic variants in their cancers. In addition, 16-18% of children, adolescents and young adults with cancer carry germline variants, of whom only 40% had a significant family history of cancer.¹¹⁰

The Australian Rare Cancers Portal connects patients and treating medical practitioners with sub-specialists on genomic profiling and precision medicine, regardless of their location. It can assist a person diagnosed with a rare cancer and their treatment team with management guidelines, interpretation of genetic reports, streamlining access to national rare cancer specialists including by telehealth or multidisciplinary groups and identification of relevant clinical trials or other research opportunities.

2.2 Enable timely access to genomics-informed cancer treatments through Health Technology Assessment (HTA) processes and clinical trials.

The HTA Review found that a coordinated and standardised approach to collecting real-world data (RWD) and real-world evidence (RWE) is required to understand how health technologies are being used and are performing in the real world.

This is particularly important for genomics-guided treatments where RWD represents a promising alternative to the traditional evidence-based medicine approaches that are based on the use of randomised clinical trials.¹¹¹

Matched therapies have the potential to improve survival for those who receive them, compared to unmatched therapies.³³ Research on the use of genomic-matched therapies compared to traditional treatments found that, of children found to carry a targetable variant, 13-67% received the matched therapy, usually via a clinical trial or compassionate access.^{54, 112, 113, 54, 114, 115, 116} Models like ZERO and PrOSPeCT offer examples of centralised clinical and research expertise, linked to patient services across state boundaries, providing national access. However, there are significant risks that lack of access to genomics technologies and novel (high-cost) genomics-informed treatments will contribute to further disparity in cancer outcomes, including for priority population groups.

One barrier to timely adoption in clinical practice includes the challenges of demonstrating the efficacy of genomics-informed strategies. Optimally, outcome studies should be planned as part of a pipeline from discovery to implementation. Similar to phased drug studies, outcome studies can prospectively validate a discovery, demonstrate the efficacy of genome-informed strategies, or assess the effectiveness of implementation.¹¹¹

The HTA Review recommends (Recommendation 38) that the Australian Government:

- support the development of further guidance on methods for assessing tumour agnostic therapies, informed by approaches that have been used by the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC); models proposed in academic literature; models adopted in other jurisdictions and consultation with patients, clinicians and industry.
- support the development of guidance on the assessment and appraisal of genomic technologies and gene therapies for HTA decisions in Australia.

In an optimal, equitable system, access to evidence-based, cost-effective genomics-guided medicines would be provided to all those who are found to have an actionable somatic or germline variant for whom a matched therapy is available. This would be achieved by equitable access to genomic testing, and availability of funded treatment that is biomarker driven ('tumour agnostic') instead of diagnosis driven (based on tumour histology and primary location).

2.3 Promote translational research of cost-effective evidence-based genomic tools to support cancer detection, genomics-informed treatments and monitoring for progressive disease or recurrence, and transition from research to routine cancer care.

Circulating DNA (ctDNA) through liquid biopsies has shown promise in clinical trials as a potential prognostic biomarker, a substitute for biopsy (particularly useful in cancers of unknown primary), and monitoring response to treatment and recurrent disease. Monitoring for residual disease after treatment already has an increasingly established role in both predicting treatment outcome and early relapse detection in many haematological malignancies.^{117, 118, 119}

Less research has been conducted on ctDNA in cancers in children, adolescents and young adults, but preliminary evidence suggests high levels of correlation with tissue sample variants, the ability to detect ctDNA in 70% of recently diagnosed and 80% of advanced cancer patients, and the genomic profile in serial samples is consistent with treatment responses.⁷³

Translation of research findings into practice can also be cost-saving for the system. Economic modelling of next-generation sequencing (NGS) compared to polymerase chain reaction (PCR) biomarker testing strategies among patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer demonstrates that NGS is associated with greater cost savings compared to PCR. This is driven by more rapid results, shorter time to appropriate therapy initiation, and minimised use of inappropriate therapies while awaiting and after test results.¹²⁰

The ZERO Childhood Cancer Program commenced in 2017 as a precision medicine program to guide potential treatment options, initially for children with poor outcome cancers and expanded in 2023 to all children diagnosed with cancer in Australia. Program data shows that 70% of children who received ZERO-recommended personalised treatment showed a complete or partial response, or disease stabilisation. The PrOSPect Study, led by Omico, provides genomic profiling to adults with advanced or incurable cancers and identifies potential matches for patients to clinical trials with new targeted therapies.

Research is needed to demonstrate the best use of genomic tools in practice across the cancer care continuum, with a focus on priority populations to ensure equity of access. Research also plays a pivotal role to establish the efficacy and safety of new treatments. There are limits to the current level of research translation into clinical practice.¹²¹ Transition from a research study to national best practice standard of care requires consideration of sustainability and a co-ordinated approach to integration of genomic technologies into the Australian health system.

2.4. Build the evidence for genomics-guided treatments, including through expanded access to appropriate clinical trials, ensuring that the specialist cancer and primary care sectors, including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services, are engaged to support equitable patient participation.

There is a mismatch between the study populations participating in oncology clinical trials and the composition of the target cancer population.¹²² Increasing access to genomic clinical trials can be achieved via: broadening eligibility requirements for trials, simplification of trial procedures, community outreach through patient navigators, decentralisation of clinical trial procedures, telehealth, and funding to offset costs of travel. Regulatory requirements can mandate that trial sponsors enrol diverse study populations and ensure that ethics and governance review prioritise equity and inclusivity.

Facilitation of access is the joint responsibility of the specialist cancer and the primary care sectors who have direct contact with priority populations who are not well served by the current genomic clinical trial ecosystem. Building of culturally safe service pathways, research sites and clinical trials staff is critical for success. Other levers include making funding contingent on actions that promote targeted enrolment and data sharing with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, and engagement in partnerships to design clinical trials to enable participation in a trial closer to home. Promotion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander-led genomics and cancer research, and capacity building for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander researchers will contribute to delivery of this action.

For example, Cancer Australia is delivering the <u>Partnerships for Cancer Research grant program</u>¹²³ to strengthen cancer research to improve the health outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and to build capacity of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cancer research sector.

Stakeholder Input

Stakeholders emphasised the role of the Framework to support equitable access to, and participation in, genomics-related clinical trials for priority population groups.

Stakeholders supported research and clinical trial risk minimisation activities such as accessible and culturally appropriate informed consent and data privacy arrangements.

Stakeholders called for funding to address costly treatment and out-of-pocket expenses, workforce training and outreach services.

Stakeholder Quotes

"Most mob don't get to treatment, that option [of a clinical trial] is not there because it's a late-stage diagnosis" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant.

"Our sample sizes in cancer are getting smaller because we're getting better at refining all our subtypes. But we're just not seeing the increase in the services and the activities we need in our environment to action more trials" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Stakeholders highlighted the importance of informed choice and informed consent, as well as self-determination over data and research. The ongoing effects of systemic racism on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities, and the historical harms associated with health research and genomics were also identified.

People living in rural and remote areas

A lack of clinical trials and genomics-trained health workforce was identified by people living in rural and remote areas. Stakeholders identified the burden of additional costs involved in accessing genomics-informed cancer treatment, including treatment not covered on the PBS, travel and accommodation away from home, and time off work.

Children, adolescents and families

Stakeholders identified the need for rapid processes to access genomic clinical trials for children, adolescents and young people. This includes establishing genomics-specific funding pathways and supporting the retention of existing clinical trials staff. Stakeholders highlighted the unique differences between child, adolescent and young adult patients and stressed that genomic testing indications should reflect these differences.

People from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

Improved communication about clinical trial involvement and informed consent processes was identified by individuals from diverse backgrounds. This included ensuring access to bi-lingual interpreters, simple language to ensure understanding and minimise any potential risks, including financial.

People with rare cancers

Stakeholders identified the need to improve access to clinical trials for people with rare cancers. This includes addressing sample size requirements for clinical trials. Stakeholders suggested supporting existing clinical trial infrastructure, funding, testing and referral pathways whilst building workforce sub-specialities in clinical trials

Links to the Australian Cancer Plan

- World class health systems for optimal care Australian Cancer Plan
- <u>3.2.2: Develop a national framework for networked, distributed comprehensive cancer care, to facilitate</u> provision of services as close as safely possible to where patients live. This will include the role of <u>Comprehensive Cancer Centres to enhance patient outcomes, strengthen transparency and accountability,</u> and drive continuous improvements for all patients across the network regardless of where the care is

provided. -

- <u>3.2.3: Implement innovative, evidence-based and cost-effective models of care for people living with and beyond cancer.</u> Australian Cancer Plan
- <u>3.5.2: Establish an Australian Comprehensive Cancer Network (ACCN) to ensure connectivity and sharing of expertise between Comprehensive Cancer Centres, other cancer services, regional hospitals, community and primary care. The establishment of an ACCN will increase equity of access across services for all patients, deliver cancer care close to home, and monitor evidence-based system performance. Australian Cancer Plan
 </u>
- Strong and dynamic foundations Australian Cancer Plan
- <u>4.2.2: Ensure targeted and innovative research investment into areas of unmet and emerging need; and improve clinical trial design and equitable access.</u> Australian Cancer Plan

Other relevant links

• National Pancreatic Cancer Roadmap – Cancer Australia

Strategic Objective 3: Supportive care

Ambition Statement

The experience of people affected by cancer is improved by genomics-informed cancer care.

Goal

Genomics is used to optimise treatment response and minimise treatment toxicity, and people affected by cancer receive psychosocial care when needed.

Actions

3.1 Provide tailored clinical and psychosocial support to people affected by cancer, according to their genomic profile and individual preferences.

3.2 Provide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority populations with holistic navigation support and wrap-around culturally-informed personalised genomic cancer care.

3.3 Build understanding of how genomics influences treatment response and patient experience, integrating pharmacogenomics into routine care to enhance treatment effectiveness and minimise treatment toxicity.

3.4 Minimise <u>financial toxicity</u> for patients and families associated with access to best-practice genomics-informed cancer care.

Supportive care includes the management of physical and psychological symptoms and side effects across the continuum of the cancer journey from diagnosis through treatment to post-treatment care.¹²⁴

Genomics can be useful in determining likely response to treatment and risk of side-effects, including in palliative care and at end-of-life. Pharmacogenomics is the study of how genomic variation is associated with the clinical effectiveness and safety of drugs.¹²⁵ Pharmacogenomics can influence the treatment of the cancer as well as management of the effects of the cancer and comorbidities. A genomic perspective on the safety of anti-cancer treatments may assist in placing the person with cancer, rather than the disease, at the centre of their care.¹²⁶ When access to the genetic profile of the patient and/or their tumour is possible, a better evidence-based decision on the type and intensity of treatment can be achieved for an individual patient. This has particular value when multiple regimens that are similarly effective are available, and both efficacy and safety can be maximised through testing for genetic biomarkers.¹²⁶

Approximately 60% of patients with advanced cancer have been reported to be taking medications with pharmacogenomic interactions.¹²⁵ Pharmacogenomic testing using specific markers is currently used as standard of care for B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. However, broader testing, including other markers such as "sensitivity" to certain supportive care treatments, or emerging genomic markers of risk of certain toxicities, has not yet been implemented in the clinical practice. There are ongoing research initiatives to implement this in paediatric oncology.¹¹⁰

Explanatory text for actions

3.1 Provide tailored clinical and psychosocial support to people affected by cancer, according to their genomic profile and individual preferences.

A genomic test result with a germline variant indicative of a hereditary cancer syndrome, has implications for the individual and their family, including an increased risk of cancer and opportunity for risk-reducing interventions. Patients who are found to be at increased risk of cancer due to hereditary cancer syndromes report clinically relevant distress, anxiety and depression compared to the general population. These patients need tailored support to cope with decisions regarding risk-reducing surgeries, communication with their families, and childbearing.¹²⁷

Following a cancer diagnosis, an informative genomic test which demonstrates a somatic or germline variant could represent the opportunity for a targeted therapy, or entry to a clinical trial. Honouring individual preferences is an essential principle of supportive care which aims to maintain quality of life, and to ensure that people with cancer can achieve maximum benefit from their anticancer treatment. It is important to recognise that the experience of children affected by cancer can be significantly improved by genomics-informed cancer care. Both clinical and psychological support tailored to their unique circumstances is essential to ensure the best possible outcomes.¹²⁸

In addition to coping with the worry and stress brought about by their diagnosis, people with cancer and their families often face the stresses of physically demanding cancer treatments, and potential disability, fatigue, and pain associated with treatment.¹²⁹ People affected by cancer need to be supported with information access when the person is ready for it, in their own time and space. Tailored support also makes excellent cancer care possible by easing the emotional burden for people with cancer and caregivers, and improving communication between people with cancer and caregivers about disease and prognosis.¹²⁴

Genetic counselling can support people affected by cancer to provide informed consent for testing and to understand and adapt to the medical, psychological, familial and reproductive implications of their diagnosis.¹³⁰

3.2 Provide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other priority populations with holistic navigation support and wrap-around culturally-informed personalised genomic cancer care.

Personalised care across the cancer continuum can be complex to navigate, including decisions about genomic testing to enable personalised prevention, targeted cancer therapies, treatment dosages to optimise treatment responses and participation in genomic clinical trials. At each step, there may be a need to resolve access barriers, including strengthening health literacy, addressing financial costs, and providing culturally safe services and infrastructure within local Communities.

Stakeholders highlighted the need for more Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff in cancer care, and their critical role in implementing safe and effective cancer care to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, noting the support required for this workforce. The emerging role of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander-led care coordinators in assisting patients to access cancer care was highlighted as an important element of the workforce. Navigators need genomics literacy and support to upskill, including training pathways for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Corres Strait Islander Liaison Officers and for Aboriginal Health Workers and Practitioners, and for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander nurses to have genomics qualifications recognised in the clinical skill sets.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Communities have experienced positive outcomes when dedicated positions are funded to give people a single point of contact to support them to understand their care pathway, answer questions and regularly check in. In line with the NACCHO Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Plan, navigation support can build on other elements of a culturally safe environment, including self-determination

over data capture and research participation, translation and resources in appropriate language, a support person such as Aboriginal Liaison Officer, and a full description of the treatment or intervention to enable decision-making based on other obligations and priorities, and to ensure informed choice and informed consent.

A broad, open focus for supportive care will consider the impact of cancer on the patient's family members and the broader Community. Wrap-around care means that the individual's needs are met promptly, compassionately and without judgment. An individual's needs may vary across the life course, and this should be considered when planning wrap-around services tailored towards the individual and their family. Needs might be material, such as transport, cost and time; psychological such as mental health services; or social such as a need for legal services.¹³¹

Underserved segments of the population, such as those with a culturally and linguistically diverse background, those living in rural and remote areas, and those in lower socioeconomic or medically underserved communities, can benefit from patient navigation that provides culturally appropriate and relevant education and assistance.¹³² Priority populations would benefit from patient navigation designed to support their understanding of genomics in cancer care and facilitate the accessibility of the health system for provision of genomics-informed care.

3.3 Build understanding of how genomics influences treatment response and patient experience, integrating pharmacogenomics into routine care to enhance treatment effectiveness and minimise treatment toxicity.

Many patients with cancer will experience drug toxicity and suboptimal response rates during their disease course. Both the patient's germline genetic variations and tumour-specific somatic variants may affect drug response in terms of both efficacy and toxicity. Ongoing research and information sharing is needed in parallel with development of novel treatments to ensure that genomics can be used to optimise treatment response, improving quality of life and impacting survival.

Pharmacogenomics has been proposed to individualise cancer therapy, for example by optimising the dose of treatment or avoiding treatment side effects. In current clinical practice, pharmacogenomics is used for example, in opioid treatment; ¹³³ in considerations for radiation therapy in patients found to carry a p53 variant; ¹³⁴ and modifying chemotherapy regimens in people with a genetic variation in the DYPD gene.¹³⁵

Pharmacogenomics is evolving as a potential tool to improve patient care in pain management. Pain management medications are associated with a significant variability in the analgesic response based on variations in genes that are involved in the drug metabolism.¹³⁶ Pharmacogenomic Decision Support Systems in Palliative Care have been trialled to better support opioid drug selection and dose adjustments in chronically ill patients with advanced illness.¹³⁷

Although certain germline pharmacogenes, such as TPMT, UGT1A1, and DPYD, have been recognised for decades, potential dosing implications for new anticancer medications, including targeted therapies, as well as the discovery of additional genetic variants has the potential to impact treatment responses.¹³⁸ In some cases, knowledge of these interactions and their implications for patient care has translated to the clinical sphere such as label guidance, drug prescribing guidelines and recommendations by international societies and governing bodies.

Pharmacogenomics also has an increasing role in predicting target drug levels in various supportive care medications, such as anti-fungal agents, allowing individualised dosing regimens to be developed.¹³⁹

Ongoing research and information sharing is needed in parallel with development of novel treatments to ensure that genomics can be used to optimise treatment response.

Optimal use of pharmacogenomics involves a unique multidisciplinary collaboration between oncologists, laboratory scientists, bioinformatics, pharmacists and clinical pharmacologists. A co-ordinated approach to

integration of pharmacogenomics into routine care must be taken to ensure testing availability and equity of access to best practice care.

3.4 Minimise financial toxicity associated with access to best-practice genomics-informed cancer care.

Financial toxicity is the combined impact of out-of-pocket costs, direct and indirect costs (including travel and accommodation to receive treatment) and the changing financial circumstances of an individual and their household due to cancer, from diagnosis to treatment, supportive and palliative care and throughout survivorship.¹⁴⁰ It is important that there is 'visibility' of what these costs are and that patients are directed to appropriate resources.

The psychological and practical burden of financial toxicity on people affected by cancer is large and financial considerations can also influence decision-making around testing and treatment and lead to increasing inequities and poorer cancer outcomes.¹⁴¹

Out-of-pocket expenses relate to the requirement for upfront payment for services outside of in-patient care and high-cost tests and treatment. Typically, new treatments are expensive and therefore may not be accessible to all individuals prior to registration and government reimbursement, due to their financial cost. HTA processes aim to ensure that government-funded therapies and services are clinically effective, safe and cost-effective for particular patients, while also giving regard to ensuring the efficient use of health care resources and the financial impact that paying for the care might put on a society.

There are significant risks that lack of access to publicly subsidised genomics technologies and novel (high-cost) genomics-informed treatments will contribute to not only the financial toxicity faced by patients, but also to further disparity in cancer outcomes, including for priority population groups.

State funded Patient-Assistance Travel Schemes (PATS) provide patients (and eligible carers) with financial assistance towards the costs involved in travelling to, and staying near, approved medical specialist services that are not locally available.¹⁴² However, each jurisdictional scheme is different, and costs are rarely fully covered.⁵ In addition, most jurisdictional schemes are reimbursement models which means patients must have access to funds to pay for travel and accommodation upfront, which can create a significant financial barrier.¹⁴³

Stakeholder Input

Stakeholders emphasised the role for the Framework to deliver psychosocial support for priority population groups.

Stakeholders supported workforce training to improve knowledge of supportive care services, data collection to better understand supportive care needs, and importantly the role of hope.

Stakeholder Quotes

"The big thing about personalised cancer care that we see in our remote communities is that family is so important as being part of it all" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"Make sure that you know the support and survivorship needs. It really needs to be integrated or properly funded to allow people to manage their cancer" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"Bringing faith leaders into those conversations [end of life care planning] can be very important for some communities, some families and for some individuals and there will need to be some awareness and education for them" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"It's already expensive for our rural and remote area patients to access. Add screening and treatments and then you're adding the cost if they're not subsidised for these panels that are only going to increase in the future" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Stakeholders placed importance on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture, how culture intersects with cancer care and the cultural considerations needed for genomics in cancer control. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander stakeholders the cancer care journey is not individualistic, and rather family should be part of the journey. Stakeholders also highlighted the desire of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities to receive care on Country, or closer to home.

People living in rural and remote areas

Psychosocial impacts of genetic testing and treatment were identified by people living in rural and remote areas. Stakeholders identified the importance of understanding both country-wide and state-wide variation in supportive care needs of people affected by cancer and that rural and remote is not a homogenous group.

Children, adolescents and families

Stakeholders identified the need to manage expectations of symptom burden and quality of life in families with children, adolescents and young people diagnosed with cancer. This includes establishing specialised support services for those at increased risk while promoting the role of hope in supportive care.

People from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

Stakeholders emphasised the role of the family in supporting people with cancer and how health professionals could be more accommodating of this role. Engaging with community and faith leaders was also identified by individuals from diverse backgrounds to build trust and facilitate palliative care discussions.

People with rare cancers

Stakeholders identified the psychosocial support needs for people with rare cancers, and their families and carers. This includes supporting health professionals, such as cancer specialists, nurses and GPs, to provide clear and simple information on future risk for the individual and, where hereditary, their family.

Links to the Australian Cancer Plan

- World class health systems for optimal care Australian Cancer Plan
- <u>3.2.4: Develop and refine integrated care models to maximise access to high-quality, timely and evidence-based palliative and end-of-life care, including voluntary assisted dying. Australian Cancer Plan</u>

Strategic Objective 4: Awareness and education

Ambition Statement

Health professionals, consumers and the community have appropriate genomics health literacy to support informed use of genomic technologies and decision-making.

Goal

All health professionals are competent in using genomics in cancer care, and the community is empowered to understand the role of genomic testing and genomics-informed care.

Actions

4.1 Embed cancer genomics education into health professional curricula and ongoing professional development to build competence in using genomics in cancer care.

4.2 Develop tools for the specialist cancer workforce, and primary care including <u>Aboriginal Community</u> <u>Controlled Health Services</u>, to support shared decision-making with patients about the use of genomics in cancer care.

4.3 Develop awareness campaigns about cancer genomics, including in community spaces, GP waiting rooms and community pharmacies.

4.4 Co-design resources with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, other priority populations and consumer groups, to raise awareness of, and address concerns about, genomic testing and genomics-informed care.

Awareness and education is built on a foundation of building and maintaining public trust in genomic medicine, with a focus on improving support for individuals and families to make informed choices about cancer genomic testing.¹⁴⁴ Educational activities for patients need to highlight not only the benefits but also the risks associated with testing such as discovery of incidental findings which may have implications for the individual and their family. Education on the subsequent choices and avenues for treatment and supportive care that may or may not be available is also important. It is also critical that education and awareness approaches are co-designed and tailored to the needs and preferences of different population groups to ensure that materials are linguistically and culturally appropriate.¹²¹

The amount of information available on genetics and genomics is growing rapidly, and it is important that people seeking cancer-related genomics information are able to locate and identify reliable health information. Health professionals must always be a trusted source of cancer genomics information. A commitment to increasing capacity and capability in cancer genomics recognises that many types of health professionals will need varying degrees of cancer genomic literacy as the implementation of personalised medicine proceeds. The role of genomics in cancer control will continue to evolve as research and technology progresses. This will necessitate new service delivery models, and assessment of the roles and skills that are required now and in the future by each of the different professional groups.

Explanatory text for actions

4.1 Embed cancer genomics education into health professional curricula and ongoing professional development to build competence in using genomics in cancer care.

Quality, evidence-based education on a large scale is required to build a healthcare workforce that can competently practice genomics-informed cancer medicine.¹⁴⁵ To make decisions regarding cancer genomic testing and to address patient-initiated questions, health professionals need to first and foremost accurately understand the role of genomics in cancer control and the basic premises of tests and treatments.

All cancer specialists need an understanding of clinically-applicable genomics, including being sufficiently proficient in interpreting genomic results to communicate and make decisions about testing and treatment. They should leverage support from genomic specialists and genetic counsellors and accessible guidelines and resources, to select tests and interpret genetic results.¹⁴⁶ Increased capability in primary care is required to communicate risk, manage the assessment and prevention strategies for people identified with high-risk genetic profiles, including follow-up testing, surveillance and advice.

Undergraduate and postgraduate curricula for all health professionals and ongoing professional development, need to include genomic and precision medicine to support the delivery of trauma-aware healing-informed personalised cancer care. This must include an understanding of the particular sensitivities that genomics poses for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, due to historical distrust, poor research practices and ethical concerns. Education and training materials also need to reflect current workforce development needs, including specific needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Workers and Practitioners.

4.2 Develop tools for the specialist cancer workforce, and primary care including Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services, to support shared decision-making with patients about the use of genomics in cancer care.

Shared decision-making involves a collaborative conversation between patients and health professionals to cocreate a care plan that makes sense intellectually, practically and emotionally. Tailored resources to aid decisionmaking, and enable informed consent to genomic testing, should be available in all care settings, including primary care.

Genomic testing to identify whether a patient has a germline variant associated with a hereditary cancer syndrome represents a prime example of the importance of shared decision-making in cancer care.¹⁴⁷ Genetic test results can impact personal circumstances, including ongoing surveillance, prophylactic procedures and fertility interventions, which can be stressful and should only be undertaken with informed consent. Shared decision-making should be supported by tools that assist in conveying the relevant information. For primary care and ACCHS, tools should build on the variety of testing and screening tools available for genetic cancer risk assessment in general practice, to provide culturally safe resources for communicating genomic information and the implications for the patient's and their family's care.

4.3 Develop awareness campaigns about cancer genomics, including in community spaces, GP waiting rooms and community pharmacies.

Awareness campaigns can broaden public knowledge about genetic factors and cancer risk. They can also reinforce the importance of early or different approaches to screening for people at high risk of cancer due to hereditary factors.¹⁴⁸

Positive factors associated with greater awareness of genetic tests include higher education, higher motivation for cancer information, greater belief in genetics influencing cancer risk, and higher medical literacy.¹⁴⁹

Use of GP waiting rooms to disseminate health information is a well-established practice in Australia. Extending awareness campaigns into more community focused spaces has potential to overcome some of the barriers to genomic health literacy by bringing cancer genomic information to the individual, rather than depending on the individual to seek it out.

4.4 Co-design resources with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, other priority populations and consumer groups, to raise awareness of, and address concerns about, genomic testing and genomics-informed care.

Co-design is an enabling factor for patient-centred care. One example of this in practice is co-design of Cancer Australia's <u>Our Mob and Cancer website</u>, developed for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. The site includes information about cancer from trusted sources; it is impartial, non-commercial, evidence-based and respects culture and traditions. This approach should be extended to develop genomics-focused resources that meet the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians and other priority population groups. This includes supporting people living with a disability to be actively involved in providing informed consent in genomic care decisions.

The development of <u>Key Principles and Best Practices for Co-Design in Health with First Nations Australians</u> was codesigned by Cancer Australia and led to a set of six key principles and twenty-seven associated best practices for co-design in health with First Nations Australians. The principles were: First Nations leadership; Culturally grounded approach; Respect; Benefit to community; Inclusive partnerships; and Transparency and evaluation.¹⁵⁰

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Ways of Working are reflected in co-designed guidance from the <u>RACGP-NACCHO Partnership Project</u>. The key domains of Ways of Working framework are: community related; the context in which we work; relational values; and work values (informing project outputs).¹⁵¹

Aboriginal Health workers, particularly in the <u>primary health sector</u>, require education in the role of genomics in cancer care, as well as health equity. An understanding of commonly held community miscomprehensions, concerns and hesitancy around genomics provides an opportunity for promotion of the role of genomics in improving personalised prevention, risk reduction and treatment options, and ultimately reducing disparity in cancer experience and outcomes.

Strategies for community empowerment, including though whole-of-community activities, and communityled place-based health promotion, could raise awareness in the community about genomics in cancer control. Workshops and face-to face approaches support effective communication of potential benefits and are an avenue for those with lived experience to share their stories with community. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander led media could lead public engagement, utilising radio network, podcasts, audio book, picture book, with an emphasis on hearing from people's experiences.

Stakeholder Input

Stakeholders emphasised the role for the Framework to support improving genomics literacy across priority population groups.

Stakeholders supported tailored communication delivered using simple language across multiple channels such as print, radio, television, web pages, videos and podcasts.

Stakeholders called for education and training of the healthcare workforce to facilitate awareness and decisionmaking around genetic testing and treatment for people affected by cancer.

Stakeholder Quotes

"And I think...having information for the community before people get sick [is important] because I'm assuming that the shock can wipe out a lot of rational thought about what you should be doing"- Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"People will take action to take care of their families, as early detection and prevention. But the communication and the approach need to be tailored" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

"I want to mention around the multi-channel approaches for communication, we do quite a lot of stories and interviews in language, podcasts, videos" - Stakeholder Workshop Participant

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Stakeholders identified the importance of building capacity of community members and health care workers to engage with genomics in cancer control. The need for health workers, particularly in the primary health sector, to be educated in the use of genomics in cancer control, as well as health equity was identified. Stakeholders also described the importance of engaging with community and effectively communicating.

People living in rural and remote areas

The importance of involving community members, local Elders and healthcare champions in awareness campaigns was identified by people living in rural and remote areas. Stakeholders suggested adopting simple language and local terminology in genomics communication that specifically targets families and advocacy groups.

Children, adolescents and families

Stakeholders identified the need to inform families of children, adolescents and young people about genomicsinformed care soon as possible after diagnosis. This includes improving access to genomic information materials, especially in digital and easy to read formats.

People from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

Improving communication with both the GP and cancer team was identified by individuals from diverse backgrounds. This included the importance of bilingual educators, addressing family members and taking time to communicate complex information. Stakeholders from diverse backgrounds also supported the use of plain language and personal stories across print, visual and audio media while highlighting the need for tailored community information materials in language.

People with rare cancers

Stakeholders identified the important role of decision aids in supporting people with rare cancers, and their families and carers, to make decisions about genomics. Improving genomic literacy education for health professionals, such as oncologists, GPs and nurses, was suggested as a way to facilitate clear communication.

Foundational Objective 1: Research and data

Ambition Statement

Evidence-based and data-driven cancer genomics is incorporated into the health system.

Goal

Cancer genomic research and data are representative of population diversity, underpinned by Indigenous Data Sovereignty principles, and used to inform best practice cancer care.

Actions

5.1 Promote equitable access and culturally safe participation in cancer clinical trials incorporating genomics.

5.2 Implement nationally consistent processes to collect, store, share and link cancer genomic data safely and securely.

5.3 Apply Indigenous Data Sovereignty principles to the governance of cancer genomic data across the continuum.

The Australian Cancer Plan has a two-year goal of *nationally agreed frameworks for collection and reporting of comprehensive cancer data, and implementation of new technologies into routine cancer care,* with a focus on research priorities that drive innovation and fast-track opening of cancer clinical trials in Australia. The National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control is complementary to the actions of the Australian Cancer Plan under this goal, including the development of a National Data Framework to improve accessibility, consistency and comprehensiveness of integrated data assets. Ownership of genomic data is a complex issue legally and practically and is particularly salient for First Nations people, given the history of extractive research practices in communities where knowledge is taken from its immediate context for the benefit of a highly specialised group of outsiders. Extractive research typically fails to uplift, represent, or reflect the experiences of the communities from which it was derived.¹⁵² Some First Nations communities have experienced harms from genetic research that traces human origins or interprets results in ways that stigmatise groups which has contributed to fears around use of genomics to validate or discredit identity.¹⁵³

The diversity of the human genome is not currently reflected in genomic databases and there is the potential for cancer genomics to worsen existing health disparities. One example is less reliable risk stratification for healthcare in underrepresented groups.¹⁵⁴ Genomic research to date has disproportionately focused on populations of European ancestry, and as a result, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are underrepresented in reference datasets used for implementation of genomic technologies.

The National Agreement on Closing the Gap⁶⁷ Priority Reform 4 aims to ensure that data and information is shared and made available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, to enable communities to access and use locally-relevant data and information to set and monitor implementation efforts to close the gap. Building Indigenous Data Sovereignty (IDS) principles and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander governance into research is required to protect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander rights and collective interests.⁵⁹

Structural barriers to genomic testing and research include systemic racial, socioeconomic and knowledge barriers to testing. Populations with less access to genomics are the same communities already experiencing significant negative effects of social determinants of health.⁵⁹

Explanatory text for actions

5.1 Promote equitable access and culturally safe participation in cancer clinical trials incorporating genomics.

Targeted research in priority areas and improved identification of priority patient groups within research data is needed to support access to clinical trials for all Australians with cancer.

In Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities there is an awareness that familial and genetic risk factors are likely to be important, but remain understudied in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations.¹⁵⁵ Inclusive approaches to clinical trial design can reflect practical considerations, such as larger clinical rooms to accommodate extended family and kin, and travel support and accommodation for more than one care person attending appointments with the patient.

Inclusion can also be reflected in: clinical trial protocols that recognise higher rates of co-morbidities of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and dictate inclusion criteria accordingly, use of telehealth in trials to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander participation on Country, or as close to home as possible, and a strong understanding the philosophies of holistic health and wellbeing and the role of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander strait Islander and the role of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander country, beliefs, cultural needs and health history in decision-making processes about treatment and ongoing care.¹⁵⁶

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, particularly those living in rural and remote communities, will require additional support and engagement to improve their access to clinical trials. Access to clinical trials is limited for rural and remote Australians, adding to the current health inequity between rural and metropolitan populations. The Australian Teletrial Model was developed by the Clinical Oncology Society of Australia to bring clinical trials "closer to home". In 2020, the Australian Teletrial Program was funded to expand and support the uptake of the model across six Australian states and territories.¹⁵⁷

5.2 Implement nationally consistent processes to collect, store, share and link cancer genomic data safely and securely.

The Australian Cancer Plan emphasises that optimal cancer care and a high-performing system relies on access to, use of, and sharing of comprehensive health and cancer data across all settings. Effective use of these data is currently hindered. The National Cancer Data Framework sets the strategic direction for the collection, management, use and ongoing development of comprehensive and consistent cancer data. Integration of linked patient-level genomic and clinical data into the cancer data ecosystem and other population level data collections, can be used to inform clinical decisions across the cancer care continuum, to provide a comprehensive view of outcomes across patient groups and be a valuable knowledge base for future research. The alignment between both the National Cancer Data Framework and National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control and other existing and planned national health data initiatives, is key to enabling nationally consistent processes and integration of cancer genomic data to inform person-centred, equitable genomic and data-driven cancer care.

National genomic data strategies will also guide the use of cancer genomic data into the future. The National Approach to Genomic Information Management (NAGIM) outlines principles for managing genomic and health data for clinical and research use. Cancer genomic data generated across different jurisdictions, healthcare systems and research organisations require a unified approach for collection, management and use. Australian Genomics has developed the NAGIM implementation plan for the consideration of governments. It focuses on delivery of a learning healthcare system, with genomic data, knowledge and outputs flowing interactively through clinical care and research. A genomics learning healthcare system sees cycles of new genomic knowledge moving from 'bedside to bench, and bench to bedside' for the mutual benefit of healthcare systems, research and patients.¹⁵⁸

5.3 Apply Indigenous Data Sovereignty principles to the governance of cancer genomic data across the continuum.

The CARE Principles reflect the crucial role of data in advancing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander innovation and self-determination. The Global Indigenous Data Alliance (GIDA)¹⁵⁹ formulated the CARE Principles to address a clear deficit in FAIR regarding Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' rights and interests. 'CARE' is the acronym for: Collective Benefits, Authority to control, Responsibility, Ethics. The CARE Principles complement the existing FAIR Principles, which require data to be findable, accessible, interoperable and reusable. While the FAIR Principles are about making it easier to share and reuse data, the CARE Principles ensure that data is used ethically.¹⁶⁰ Implementation of the CARE Principles in practice would include the development of protocols within both research and health systems to enable return of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander biospecimens.

The Maiam nayri Wingara Indigenous Data Sovereignty Principles¹⁶¹ assert that, in Australia, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples have the right to:

- Exercise control of the data ecosystem including creation, development, stewardship, analysis, dissemination and infrastructure.
- Data that are contextual and disaggregated (available and accessible at individual, community and First Nations levels).
- Data that are relevant and empower sustainable self-determination and effective self-governance.
- Data structures that are accountable to Indigenous peoples and First Nations.
- Data that are protective and respects our individual and collective interests.

IDS principles apply to all people who identify as Indigenous. While it is not possible to apply these principles retrospectively, all new genomic datasets need to give due consideration to their implementation. This includes data governance structures where Indigenous representation is present and empowered to exercise true decision-making power.

Links to the Australian Cancer Plan.

• <u>Australian Cancer Plan – Cancer Australia – Strategic Objective 4 – Strong and Dynamic Foundations</u>

Foundational Objective 2: Workforce and models of care

Ambition Statement

An agile workforce is enabled to adapt to genomics evidence, treatment and technologies.

Goal

Development of workforce capability in genomics and cultural safety are prioritised to support sustainable and equitable delivery of genomic cancer care.

Actions

6.1 Upskill all cancer health professionals to offer mainstreamed culturally safe cancer genomic testing, information and support, to meet current and future demand.

6.2 Increase patient and family access to specialist genetic counselling services as part of multidisciplinary cancer care.

6.3 Co-design education for all staff in the specialist cancer sector and primary health sector (mainstream and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services) on the role of genomics in cancer control.

6.4 Drive system level changes relating to cultural safety, with education for health services which acknowledges the complex history of genetics and genomics for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

6.5 Investigate the potential for oncology outreach services, genetics outreach services and clinical trials to be delivered through local health services to enable more cancer care to happen on Country, or closer to home.

As genomics increasingly becomes part of routine cancer care, all health professionals, not just genomics specialists, need to have a working understanding of its relevance and the potential to impact the diagnosis, treatment and management of cancer patients and their families. Historically, cancer genomics has not been part of broader oncology training,¹⁶² and genetic testing has been offered through tertiary genetic services where results are discussed with a genetic counsellor or clinical geneticist.¹⁶³ The Human Genetic Society of Australasia (HGSA) has identified core capabilities in genetics and genomics for medical graduates including knowledge of the pathogenesis of cancer and common inherited cancer predisposition syndromes.¹³⁰

Sustainable funding of the health system is interlinked with workforce supply and demand. Health economic analysis of the upskilled clinician model of genomics-informed care has shown cost-effectiveness, largely due to reduced number of clinical genetics appointments. A multi-disciplinary team (MDT)- based mainstreamed approach is a preferred model for integrating genetic counselling to ensure equitable access to genomics-informed cancer care. In some circumstances related to complexity of clinical need, specialist genetic expertise is required as a part of the multidisciplinary team.

Explanatory text for actions

6.1 Upskill all cancer health professionals to offer mainstreamed culturally safe cancer genomic testing, information and support to meet current and future demand.

Competency in genomics is required across all levels of the health system including primary care, specialist medical, nursing and allied health. Health professionals must receive the education and training they need to build genomic capability in cancer care. This 'mainstreaming' will permit patients to receive timely, culturally safe genomics-informed care and accommodate increased demand that is unlikely to be met through clinical genetics services. Upskilling in genomics should be built into health, medical and nursing education curricula, and within ongoing professional development requirements for health professionals, with specialist support from clinical geneticists and genetic counsellors. Effective referral pathways to genetic counsellors, when needed, will allow genetic counsellors to work at the top of their scope of practice, applying their skills and expertise to provide tailored clinical and psychosocial support, including for complex patients and families.

6.2 Increase patient and family access to specialist genetic counselling services as part of multidisciplinary cancer care.

Genetic testing has traditionally been offered through tertiary genetics services, where patients received pre-test counselling either in-person or via telehealth and results are discussed in a subsequent appointment by a genetic counsellor or clinical geneticist.¹⁶³ However, the increasing demands on genetics services are outweighing the capacity of the current workforce in Australia^{164, 165, 166} and globally.¹⁶⁶

The workforce shortage combined with the increased demand for genomic testing has driven the development of alternate models of care. One such model is 'mainstreaming', which involves integrating genomic testing into routine care in non-genetics specialties, either through embedding a genetic counsellor in the cancer care team or upskilling non-genetics health professionals.^{167, 168, 169} Genetic counselling is generally recommended before any genetic testing for inherited cancer risk and to support patients who require access to genetic testing for treatment decisions.¹⁷⁰

To date, mainstreaming of cancer genomic testing has predominately been facilitated by embedding genetic counsellors in oncology clinics or upskilling cancer specialists to offer testing. Both models have been shown to improve access to and utilisation of genomic testing and be feasible, cost-effective and to provide significant benefits to patients, including and reduced time from cancer diagnosis to test results, improved continuity of care, and high levels of decisional satisfaction.^{73, 169}

Access to genomics-informed cancer care has also been shown to depend on awareness of genetic services in primary care, especially for priority populations.¹⁷¹ Culturally appropriate genomic literacy resources and flexible service delivery models are especially critical to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and reduce access barriers.¹⁷²

6.3 Co-design education for all staff in the specialist cancer and primary health sectors (mainstream and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services) on the role of genomics in cancer control.

The role of primary care professionals, especially GPs and community health nurses is important at all stages of cancer care from prevention to palliation. Primary care professionals provide continuity of care and a link to appropriate specialist care.¹⁷³ Many GPs are unclear about the difference between germline and somatic testing, and report a lack of confidence in this area, with little formal genetics training received.¹⁷⁴ Understanding the relevance of genomic testing to practice is regarded by GPs as a barrier to integration into care. Education that can be accessed by practitioners without cost or travel is essential. The Gen-Equip project, funded by the European Union is an example of effective education in genetics for primary healthcare in Europe to improve patient care.¹⁷⁵ Primary care providers need support via point-of-care tools (such as the Evi-Q <u>General practitioner referral guidelines for cancer genetics assessment</u>)¹⁷⁶ and co-designed culturally relevant resources for the primary care workforce in the Aboriginal community-controlled health sector.

Tailored education for health professionals in the specialist cancer sector is also important for the delivery of

optimal genomics-informed cancer care. Expansion of accessible, online training such as the '<u>Mainstreaming</u> <u>genetic testing for oncology teams: A focus on genetic testing in cancer patients</u>' developed by The Human Genetics Society of Australia (HGSA) and the Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Cancer Special Interest Group (SIG) is the first step in a wider approach to delivering mainstreaming.¹⁷⁷

6.4 Drive system level changes relating to cultural safety, with education for health services which acknowledges the complex history of genomics and genetics for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

Culturally safe cancer programs such as the Beautiful Shawl Project, can provide a collaborative, Community-led initiative providing safe and empowering breast screening experiences for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women as an alternative to traditional screening. The project provides customised screening shawls to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women that are culturally appropriate, familiar and beautiful to wear during their breast screen.

Cultural safety reflects work undertaken by health professionals to create supportive and accessible care environments for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients. It reflects both the physical environment, such as consideration of privacy in service layouts and rethinking use of cancer 'bells' often sourced from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mission buildings, and promoting understanding and empathy surrounding the different priorities and family and community obligations of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and how these considerations impact on cancer care and clinical trials.

Cultural considerations for cancer genomics span the importance of incorporating traditional healing, to the unique priorities and obligations of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, and the cultural importance of biospecimens. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people the cancer care journey is not individualistic, and rather family should be part of the journey.

Cancer genomics services and clinical trials can be designed for inclusivity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families. Examples include use of larger size of clinic rooms to accommodate multiple family members and travel support schemes which allow for more than one support person to accompany the patient.

6.5 Investigate the potential for oncology outreach services, genetics outreach services and clinical trials to be delivered through local health services to enable more cancer care to happen on Country, or closer to home.

The accessibility and costs of different types of cancer care such as genetic testing, standard cancer care and clinical trials can be addressed via different models of outreach care. These models of care should also address challenges for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients accessing quality, timely care across geographic locations and different health care providers. Care on Country refers to the desire of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients, or closer to home.

New models of care are needed to enable equitable, consistent access to high-quality genetic health services and clinical trials. Innovative models such as telephone-based counselling, tele-chemotherapy models and enhancing the role of primary care and community health services in genetic counselling are required to address increasing demand and access to underserved communities, especially those in in rural and remote areas.

Links to the Australian Cancer Plan.

• <u>Australian Cancer Plan – Cancer Australia – Action 5.2.2: Build on existing capability of the primary care</u> workforce to collaboratively and sustainably support the needs of consumers.

Foundational Objective 3: Funding, quality, and safety

Ambition Statement

Genomics is integrated safely, consistently and cost-effectively across the cancer care continuum.

Goal

Ethical, legal, financial and regulatory considerations are addressed as part of the design and expansion of bestpractice genomics-informed cancer care.

Actions

7.1 Evolve Health Technology Assessment (HTA) methodologies and processes to streamline access to reimbursed genomic testing and treatment.

7.2 Apply relevant national and international policies, laws, and guidance to the design and delivery of genomic cancer care to ensure equity of experience and outcomes.

7.3 Ensure innovative models of care for integrating genomics across the cancer care continuum maintain the standard of high-value culturally safe care.

7.4 Strengthen consideration of ethical issues in relation to use of genomic testing and genomics-informed cancer treatment for all people affected by cancer.

7.5 Develop protocols to ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sovereignty over data and samples collected for cancer genomics, particularly when retained in a biobank or data registry.

There are many safety and quality implications for genomics-based cancer care. Integration of genomics in the health system relies on timely and appropriate referrals to multidisciplinary health professionals, use of germline and/or somatic testing where indicated, accurate interpretation of test results to inform interventions and/or treatments, and provision of clear culturally appropriate information for patients and families.¹⁷⁸

Value-based healthcare is the equitable, sustainable and transparent use of the available resources to achieve better outcomes and experiences, for every person at all stages of their health journey.¹⁷⁹ Increasing value also means identifying and communicating unwanted variations in care, and measuring outcomes, patient experience and resource use.¹⁸⁰ High-value cancer care is complex with multimodal treatments such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, targeted therapy and immunotherapy. The Institute of Medicine identifies six elements of value in cancer care: effectiveness, safety, patient-centeredness, efficiency, timeliness of therapy, and equity, all of which can be positively influenced by genomics.¹⁸¹

Explanatory text for actions

7.1 Evolve Health Technology Assessment (HTA) methodologies and processes to streamline access to reimbursed and up-to-date evidence-based genomic testing and treatment.

Genomic medicine and precision medicine are rapidly evolving with huge potential to transform outcomes for Australians with cancer. While cancer research is delivering innovative genomics-informed care, there is often a lag between evidence of benefit and reimbursement. There is increasing patient and clinician expectation of access to genomic technology as standard of care such as access to genomics-guided medicines for all those who are found to have an <u>actionable variant</u> where a matched therapy is available. This may be achieved via genomic profiling, and funded treatment that is biomarker driven ('tumour agnostic') instead of diagnosis driven (based on tumour histology). Current approaches to decision-making within HTA focus on tumour histology, rather than adopting a tumour agnostic approach. The HTA Review identifies strategic approaches to enabling contemporary, fit for purpose public funding for genomic testing and precision medicine.

7.2 Apply relevant national and international policies, laws, and guidance to the design and delivery of genomic cancer care to ensure equity of outcomes.

Incorporating genomics into cancer control in the Australian health care system takes place against a background of broad ethical, legal, social and cultural issues (ELSCI) which vary across the cancer continuum. ELSCI issues relevant to cancer genomic testing include equity of access, family considerations, legal considerations, data and cyber security, and consent processes.

Genomic information has unique properties such as being predictive of future health, potentially generating findings beyond the scope of an initial test, the possibility of inducing stigma or discrimination, and being relevant to other family members, that differentiate it from other kinds of testing and other non-cancer domains of health care.

Legal considerations include privacy and confidentiality, and genetic discrimination. In September 2024 the Australian Government announced the intention to enact legislation that will ban the use of adverse predictive genetic test results in life insurance underwriting.¹⁸² Previously, the potential for genetic discrimination had discouraged people from undertaking genetic testing to inform them of their cancer risk, limiting their potential for early detection and risk-reducing interventions.¹⁸³

Digital genomic data contain especially sensitive types of information, which underscores the need for secure electronic storage and transfer. Cyber security in healthcare is an ongoing ELSCI consideration for delivery of safe and quality genomics-informed cancer care.¹⁸⁴

The breadth of these issues in relation to genomics reinforce the need for application of relevant national and international policies, laws, and guidance to the design and delivery of genomic cancer care to ensure equity of outcomes.

7.3 Ensure innovative models of care for integrating genomics across the cancer care continuum maintain the standard of high-value culturally safe care.

Implementation of new models of care must align with nationally agreed standards of safety and quality and ensure best practice patient management. Clinical care needs to be supported by high quality genomics pathology services, performed in NATA-accredited laboratories providing time- critical results to guide clinical decision-making and underpinned by secure and comprehensive data sharing, including with cancer registries.

Mainstreaming^{iv} of testing facilitates equitable access for patients and delivery of optimal care as close to home as possible as part of routine care.

A culturally safe workforce considers power relations, cultural differences and the rights of the patient, and encourages workers to reflect on their own attitudes and beliefs. Cultural respect is achieved when individuals feel safe and cultural differences are respected.¹⁸⁵

7.4 Strengthen consideration of ethical issues in relation to use of genomic testing and genomics-informed cancer treatment for all people affected by cancer.

Ethical issues in cancer genomics include: the appropriate use of genomic tests in high- and average-risk people; genomic testing of children; familial implications of genetic information; management of unactionable mutations, incidental findings and future discoveries for the individual; protection of genetic privacy; informed consent processes to enable the collection, storage and use of personal genomic data, including potential future use of data; and cultural and social contexts.¹⁸⁶

Use of genomic information in cancer prevention and early detection has specific ethical considerations particularly related to the idea of personal responsibility for health and the role of the individual in minimising their risk through behaviours.¹⁸⁷

Ethical considerations in relation to family communication relate to who is responsible for communicating genetic information to extended family, noting that family members are generally considered to have an ethical duty to communicate genomic information that will be relevant to other family members. There is ongoing debate over whether health professionals also have this duty and that doing so is legally defensible in at least some jurisdictions in Australia.¹⁸⁷

7.5 Develop protocols to ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sovereignty over data and samples collected for cancer genomics, particularly when retained in a biobank or data registry.

The Australian National University's National Centre for Indigenous Genomics (NCIG) is leading best practice in return of blood samples collected from First Nations communities for research purposes. Samples were originally collected in the late 1960's and many of the original study participants whose blood was sampled have since passed away. Repatriation of samples has been built upon a model of strong consent and self-determination, with NCIG undertaking consultation and development of equivalent partnerships.¹⁸⁸ The NCIG model could inform wider protocols to ensure prospective sovereignty over samples collected for cancer genomics, with clear distinctions for samples being returned after clinical use, and samples being returned after research use.

The Lowitja Institute's Indigenous Data Sovereignty (IDS) Readiness Assessment and Evaluation Toolkit¹⁸⁹ was developed to evaluate IDS principles and practices in action within research and academic organisations, and as a resource for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and organisations to identify IDS in practice. The Toolkit assesses and evaluates how Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities' priorities, values and practices are incorporated in the processes that control, develop, use, maintain and protect the data that pertains to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. The Toolkit provides a model for First Nation's sovereignty over data collection and storage for cancer genomics.

iv 'Mainstreaming' refers to genomics testing being ordered by clinicians not primarily trained in genetics. In the broader sense it refers competency in genomics across all levels of the health system including oncology health professionals, primary care, nursing and allied health.

Links to other policies and reports.

- National Health Genomics Policy Framework and Implementation Plan | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care
- <u>The Health Technology Assessment Policy and Methods review</u>

Acknowledgements

Cancer Australia wishes to acknowledge the many individuals and organisations who contributed to the development of this Framework. In particular, the contribution of the Expert Advisory Group, chaired by Professor Chris Karapetis; the Indigenous Governance Group; The University of Queensland (Frazer Institute), The Australian National University (National Centre for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Genomics) and Dr Aideen McInerney-Leo, who conducted the evidence review to inform this Framework; and Adjunct Professor Jacinta Elston, Kelly Trudgen, Professor Alex Brown and Dr Justine Clark who led the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander engagement.

Memberships

Expert Advisory Group

- Professor Chris Karapetis (Chair), Director of Clinical Research in Medical Oncology, Southern Adelaide Local Health Network (SALHN)
- Professor Alex Brown, Professor of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Genomics, Telethon Kids Institute and The Australian National University
- Professor David Thomas, Director, Centre for Molecular Oncology, University of NSW
- Ms Jan Mumford, Consumer representative, Australian Cancer Consumer Network
- Adjunct Professor Jacinta Elston, Cancer Australia Advisor, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer
 Control
- Professor Jane Maguire, Deputy Head of School (Research), School of Nursing and Midwifery, University of Technology Sydney
- Associate Professor Kalinda Griffiths, Director, Poche Centre SA + NT
- Dr Noemi Fuentes-Bolanos, Paediatric Cancer Genetics Research Fellow, Cancer Genetics Program, Kids
 Cancer Centre
- Professor Richard De Abreu Lourenço, Centre for Health Economics Research and Evaluation, University of Technology Sydney
- Professor Martin Stockler, Oncology Director, NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre
- Professor Kathryn North AC, Lead, Australian Genomics
- Dr Dimitar Azmanov, Genetic Pathologist, PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
- Professor Bruce Mann, Director, Breast Tumour Stream, Royal Melbourne Hospital
- Ms Helen Mountain, Chair, Australasian Society of Genetic Counsellors
- Mr Kevin Parsons, Consumer representative, Cancer Voices Australia
- Krystal Barter, CEO, Humanise Health
- Dr Lesley Andrews, Head of Department, Hereditary Cancer Centre, Prince of Wales Hospital
- Professor Mei Krishnasamy, Chair, Cancer Nursing, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre
- Professor Jon Emery, Herman Chair of Primary Care Cancer Research, University of Melbourne
- Professor Ainsley Newson, Professor of Bioethics, Sydney Health Ethics, the University of Sydney School of Public Health
- Ms Renaye Lucchese, Assistant Secretary, Genomics and Health Technology Assessment Policy Branch, Australian Government, Department of Health and Aged Care

Indigenous Governance Group

- Associate Professor Kalinda Griffiths, Director, Poche SA+NT
- Associate Professor Lisa Whop, Chair, Cancer Australia Leadership Group on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Control, Senior Research Fellow, National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health, Australian National University
- Professor Alex Brown, Professor of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Genomics, Telethon Kids Institute and The Australian National University
- Karl Briscoe, CEO, National Association of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Workers and Practitioners; Member, Cancer Australia Leadership Group on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Control
- Peter Bligh, Director, Cancer, National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO)
- Kristine Falzon, Executive Project Manager, Waminda South Coast Women's Health and Wellbeing Aboriginal Corporation, Member, Cancer Australia Leadership Group on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Control
- Adjunct Professor Jacinta Elston, Cancer Australia Advisor, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Control, Member, Cancer Australia Leadership Group on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Control
- Kelly Trudgen, Nursing Director, Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Health Division, Queensland Health;
 Senior Health Workforce Advisor, Queensland Aboriginal and Islander Health Council, Member, Cancer
 Australia Leadership Group on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Control.
- Dr Justine Clark, Postdoctoral Research Fellow, Telethon Kids Institute

Glossary

Term	Description
Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services (ACCHS)	Non-government, not-for-profit primary health care services initiated and operated by the local Aboriginal community to deliver holistic, comprehensive and culturally responsive health care. ACCHS are incorporated, based in an Aboriginal community, and governed by a majority Aboriginal board which the local community elects.
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health Workers	Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health Workers (ATSIHWs) are health professionals who provide flexible, holistic and culturally sensitive health services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities to achieve better health outcomes and better access to health services for Aboriginal people.
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioner	An Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioner is a primary health care professional providing high-quality, culturally-safe, clinical care services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities. They are independent practitioners who work alongside and collaboratively with other clinicians including doctors, nurses, midwives, allied health and oral health practitioners in a range of settings.
Actionable mutation or variant	DNA change that, if detected in a patient's tumour, would be expected (or predicted) to affect a patient's response to treatment.
Antigen	Any substance that causes the body to make an immune response against that substance.
Cancer mutational signatures	Characteristic patterns of genetic variants found throughout the genomes of cancer cells, arising from disruptions in DNA repair processes.
Cancer of unknown primary	A metastatic cancer (cancer that has spread) where the starting point where the cells first started growing (the origin or primary site) cannot be determined.
Cancer Vaccine	A form of immunotherapy that can help educate the immune system about what cancer cells "look like" so that it can recognise and eliminate them.
Chromosomes	Located in the centre of the cell. Each person typically has 46 chromosomes, with one copy inherited from each parent. The role of chromosomes is to carry genes.
Copy Number Variants (CNVs)	Sections of the genome are repeated or deleted (>1,000 bases in size).
Circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA)	DNA shed by tumour cells into the bloodstream which can serve as a proxy for tumour genomic sequencing.

Term	Description
Cultural safety	Health consumers are safest when health professionals have considered power relations, cultural differences, and patients' rights. Culturally safe practice is the ongoing critical reflection of health practitioner knowledge, skills, attitudes, practicing behaviours, and power differentials in delivering safe, accessible, and responsive healthcare free of racism. Cultural safety is defined not by the clinician but by the health consumer's experience – the individual's experience of the care they are given and their ability to access services and to raise concerns. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people cultural safety is determined by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander individuals, families, and communities.
Depth of coverage	The number of times that a given nucleotide in the genome has been read using genomic sequencing.
DNA	Composed of nucleotides, DNA carries the genetic information essential for the growth and functioning of organisms.
Driver variants	Variants/mutations which drive the development, growth, and invasion of a cancer.
ELSCI	Ethical, legal, social and cultural issues
Epigenetics	Epigenetics describes the way cells switch on (express) or switch off genetic information. There are a number of epigenetic factors which play a role in the way genetic information is switched on. Epigenetics does not change the genetic information (DNA code) but can affect the way this information is read by the cell. The changes occur as a natural process of development and tissue differentiation, and can be altered in response to environmental exposures such as diet, exercise, drugs, and chemicals. These changes can affect a person's risk of disease and may be passed from parents to their children.
Exon	Exons are coding sections of an RNA transcript, or the DNA encoding it, that are translated into protein. Exons can be separated by intervening sections of DNA that do not code for proteins, known as introns.
Financial Toxicity	The distress or hardship arising from the financial burden of cancer treatment.
Gene	Section of DNA that codes for a protein. Can be further divided into subsections called exons (coding region) and introns (non-coding region). The gene is considered the basic unit of inheritance. Genes are passed from parents to offspring and contain the information needed to specify physical and biological traits.

Term	Description
Gene expression	Gene expression is the process when cells convert the instructions in DNA into a function. This mostly occurs from the transcription of RNA molecules that code for proteins or non-coding RNA molecules that serve other functions. Gene expression can be thought of as an "on/off switch" to control when and where RNA molecules and proteins are made and as a "volume control" to determine how much of those products are made. The process of gene expression is carefully regulated, changing substantially under different conditions and cell types.
Gene expression profile (GEP)	Information about all of the genes in a cell or tissue that are making messenger RNA. Messenger RNA molecules carry the genetic information that a cell needs to make proteins. A gene expression profile may be used to help diagnose a disease or condition, such as cancer. It may also be used to help plan treatment, find out how well treatment is working, make a prognosis, or predict whether cancer will come back or spread to other parts of the body.
Gene fusion	Genomic rearrangements lead to the fusion of two genes and subsequently abnormal protein production.
Genetic markers	A specific sequence of DNA at a known location on a chromosome. There are many genetic markers on each chromosome. Genetic markers and genes that are close to each other on a chromosome are usually inherited (passed from parent to child) together. This may help researchers find a gene near a marker that may cause a certain disease or trait within a family. Examples of genetic markers are single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and microsatellites.
Genomic profiling	A method of testing that uses a sample of tissue, blood, or other body fluid to learn about all the genes in a person or in a specific cell type, and the way those genes interact with each other and with the environment. Genomic profiling makes it possible to find out what changes are occurring in the gene (biomarkers) and inform personalised treatment that targets the specific cancer's features.
Genome	The set of genes within an organism.
Genomics	Genomics is the study of genes and other genetic information, their functions, how they interact with each other and with the environment, and how certain diseases, such as cancer, form. This may lead to new ways to prevent, diagnose, and treat cancer.
Genomic medicine	A medical discipline that involves using a person's genomic information as part of their clinical care.
Genetic testing	A type of test that identifies changes in chromosomes, genes, or proteins. These are usually one or a few genes at a time.

Term	Description
Genomic testing	A laboratory method that looks for genetic changes across all the DNA (including the entire set of genes) in a person or in a specific cell type or tissue. Genomic testing is done on samples such as blood or saliva to identify inherited genetic changes that may increase the risk of developing a specific disease or condition, such as cancer, or on a tumour sample to detect all the genetic changes in the cancer cells. This may help to understand how quickly the tumour is likely to grow and spread, and how well it may respond to certain types of treatment.
Genome-wide association studies (GWAS)	Identifies single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) responsible for certain genetic traits across the genome by comparing the frequency in large groups of affected and unaffected individuals.
Genomic sequencing	Sequencing process that shows each letter of the genetic code for a specific section of DNA or RNA, mostly performed using next generation sequencing.
Genotyping	The process of determining the DNA sequence, referred to as the genotype, to detect the presence or absence of specific variants.
Germline variant or germline mutation	A genomic variation that is present from conception and is inherited or can arise for the first time in an individual (de novo variant).
Health professional	Includes medical, nursing and allied health professionals who provide cancer care services across the cancer control continuum. Health professionals work in the community (see also <i>Primary health care</i>) and in hospital settings.
Hereditary cancer syndrome	Caused by an inherited germline variant which increases an individual's risk of developing certain tumours, often at a younger age.
НТА	Health Technology Assessment
ICER	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (the difference in costs divided by the difference in outcomes).
Intron	Introns are noncoding sections of an RNA transcript, or the DNA encoding it, that are spliced out before the RNA molecule is translated into a protein.
Liquid biopsy	A genetic sample extracted from blood that can include ctDNA, circulating tumour cells, protein biomarkers and cell-free RNA.
Matched tumour	Both tumour and unaffected samples (e.g. blood or saliva) are collected and tested simultaneously to determine whether variants are germline or somatic.
MBS	Medicare Benefits Schedule

Term	Description
Microsatellite Instability	Microsatellites are short sets of repeated DNA that are not present in the corresponding germline DNA, which can contribute to genetic instability in cells.
MSAC	Medical Services Advisory Committee
Next generation sequencing (NGS)	Technique used for DNA and RNA sequencing and consequently the detection of genetic variants.
OOP costs	Out-of-pocket costs
Panel testing	Involves sequencing the exons of a specific group of genes, ranging from tens to hundreds of genes.
PARP Inhibitor	p oly- A DP r ibose p olymerase (PARP) is an enzyme that helps damaged cells repair themselves. PARP inhibitors are a type of targeted cancer drug.
Pathogenic variant or pathogenic mutation	An alteration of the DNA code that affects the quantity or quality of protein produced and can increase the risk of particular types of disease.
РВАС	Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
People affected by cancer	This includes people at risk of cancer, people diagnosed with cancer, and their families and carers.
Polygenic risk score (PRS)	A numerical assessment to summarise an individual's genetic susceptibility to a particular trait or disease (such as cancer), based on many genetic markers across the genome.
Personalised medicine	Personalised medicine (also known as precision medicine) uses the knowledge of genetics, and genomics including the specific links between genes and some diseases, and between genes and the effectiveness of some medicines or treatments, to predict disease development and to influence decisions about lifestyle choices or to tailor treatment to an individual.
Precision oncology	Selection of cancer treatments based on the DNA signature of an individual patient's tumour.

Term	Description
Primary health care	Primary health care is usually the first contact an individual with a health concern has with the health system. Primary health care covers health care that is not related to a hospital visit, including health promotion, prevention, early intervention, treatment of acute conditions, and chronic condition management. Primary health care services are delivered in settings such as general practice, community health centres, allied health practices, Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services and via technologies such as telehealth and video consultations. Primary health care professionals include general practitioners, nurses, nurse practitioners, allied health professionals, midwives, pharmacists, dentists, and Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health Workers and Health Practitioners.
QALY	Quality-adjusted life-year (measure of disease burden including both the quality and quantity of life lived).
RNA	A molecule that is translated into the amino acids that build proteins.
RNA sequencing	Technique that quantifies the RNA in a sample and can assist in identifying which genes are turned on, or expressed, in a cell.
Sequencing	A laboratory method that is used to determine the entire genetic makeup of a specific organism or cell type. This method can be used to find changes in areas of the genome.
Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)	A common genetic variation that occurs in the population. In combination with environmental/lifestyle factors, some SNPs increase the chance of developing certain conditions (e.g., cancer).
Somatic variant or somatic mutation	New genomic variations that arise in individual cells or groups of cells and are not inherited.
The tumour mutation burden (TMB)	The number (or rate) of somatic variants in the DNA of cancer cells.
Variant of uncertain significance (VUS)	A genetic variant whose role in disease is not yet understood or determined.
Whole exome sequencing (WES)	Identifies nucleotide variants in the exons and the areas of introns immediately prior to and following exons.
Whole genome sequencing (WGS)	Identifies nucleotide variants in the exons and introns (entire gene), as well as structural variations (areas of the genome which that have been rearranged).

References

1. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2024. Australian Burden of Disease Study 2024. Accessed: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/australian-burden-of-disease-study-2024</u>

2. Fitzgerald RC, Antoniou AC, Fruk L and Rosenfeld N. The future of early cancer detection. Nature Medicine. 2022;28(4):666-677.

3. Chakravarty D and Solit DB. Clinical cancer genomic profiling. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2021;22(8):483-501.

4. Nature Research. Bigger picture oncology through multi-omics. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/d42473-020-00119-7</u>

5. Gallon R, Gawthorpe P, Phelps RL, Hayes C, Borthwick GM, Santibanez-Koref M, et al. How Should We Test for Lynch Syndrome? A Review of Current Guidelines and Future Strategies. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(3):

6. Horak P, Heining C, Kreutzfeldt S, Hutter B, Mock A, Hullein J, et al. Comprehensive Genomic and Transcriptomic Analysis for Guiding Therapeutic Decisions in Patients with Rare Cancers. Cancer Discov. 2021;11(11):2780-2795.

7. Mandelker D, Zhang L, Kemel Y, Stadler ZK, Joseph V, Zehir A, et al. Mutation Detection in Patients With Advanced Cancer by Universal Sequencing of Cancer-Related Genes in Tumor and Normal DNA vs Guideline-Based Germline Testing. JAMA. 2017;318(9):825-835.

8. Stadler ZK, Maio A, Chakravarty D, Kemel Y, Sheehan M, Salo-Mullen E, et al. Therapeutic Implications of Germline Testing in Patients With Advanced Cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2021;39(24):2698-2709.

9. Ceyhan-Birsoy O, Jayakumaran G, Kemel Y, Misyura M, Aypar U, Jairam S, et al. Diagnostic yield and clinical relevance of expanded genetic testing for cancer patients. Genome Med. 2022;14(1):92.

10. Schrader KA, Cheng DT, Joseph V, Prasad M, Walsh M, Zehir A, et al. Germline Variants in Targeted Tumor Sequencing Using Matched Normal DNA. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(1):104-11.

11. Jahn A, Rump A, Widmann TJ, Heining C, Horak P, Hutter B, et al. Comprehensive cancer predisposition testing within the prospective MASTER trial identifies hereditary cancer patients and supports treatment decisions for rare cancers. Ann Oncol. 2022;33(11):1186-1199.

12. Tung N, Dougherty KC, Gatof ES, DeLeonardis K, Hogan L, Tukachinsky H, et al. Potential pathogenic germline variant reporting from tumor comprehensive genomic profiling complements classic approaches to germline testing. NPJ Precis Oncol. 2023;7(1):76.

13. Aoyagi Y, Kano Y, Tohyama K, Matsudera S, Kumaki Y, Takahashi K, et al. Clinical utility of comprehensive genomic profiling in Japan: Result of PROFILE-F study. Plos One. 2022;17(3):

14. Bertucci F, Goncalves A, Guille A, Adelaide J, Garnier S, Carbuccia N, et al. Prospective high-throughput genome profiling of advanced cancers: results of the PERMED-01 clinical trial. Genome Med. 2021;13(1):87.

15. Cobain EF, Wu YM, Chugh R, Worden F, Smith DC, Schuetze SM, et al. Assessment of Clinical Benefit of Integrative Genomic Profiling in Advanced Solid Tumors. Jama Oncology. 2021;7(4):525-533.

16. Villani A, Shore A, Wasserman JD, Stephens D, Kim RH, Druker H, et al. Biochemical and imaging surveillance

in germline TP53 mutation carriers with Li-Fraumeni syndrome: 11 year follow-up of a prospective observational study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1295-305.

17. Villani A, Tabori U, Schiffman J, Shlien A, Beyene J, Druker H, et al. Biochemical and imaging surveillance in germline TP53 mutation carriers with Li-Fraumeni syndrome: a prospective observational study. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(6):559-67.

18. Ruijs MWG, Loo CE, van Buchem C, Bleiker EMA and Sonke GS. Surveillance of Dutch Patients With Li-Fraumeni Syndrome: The LiFe-Guard Study. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1733-1734.

19. Ballinger ML, Best A, Mai PL, Khincha PP, Loud JT, Peters JA, et al. Baseline Surveillance in Li-Fraumeni Syndrome Using Whole-Body Magnetic Resonance Imaging: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1634-1639.

20. National Association of Testing Authorities 2024. Genetic Technologies Limited. Accessed: 23.01.24 <u>https://nata.com.au/accredited-organisation/genetype-pty-ltd-20432-24460/?highlight=Polygenic</u>

21. Saya S, Boyd L, Chondros P, McNamara M, King M, Milton S, et al. The SCRIPT trial: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial of a polygenic risk score to tailor colorectal cancer screening in primary care. Trials. 2022;23(1):810.

22. Robson M, Im SA, Senkus E, Xu B, Domchek SM, Masuda N, et al. Olaparib for Metastatic Breast Cancer in Patients with a Germline BRCA Mutation. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(6):523-533.

23. Golan T, Hammel P, Reni M, Van Cutsem E, Macarulla T, Hall MJ, et al. Maintenance Olaparib for Germline BRCA-Mutated Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(4):317-327.

24. Moore K, Colombo N, Scambia G, Kim BG, Oaknin A, Friedlander M, et al. Maintenance Olaparib in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Advanced Ovarian Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(26):2495-2505.

25. OMICO The Precision Oncology Screening Platform Enabling Clinical Trials (PrOSPeCT). Accessed: 10 September 2024 <u>https://www.omico.com.au/prospect/</u>

26. Meric-Bernstam F, Johnson A, Holla V, Bailey AM, Brusco L, Chen K, et al. A decision support framework for genomically informed investigational cancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107(7):

27. Tsimberidou AM, Hong DS, Wheler JJ, Falchook GS, Janku F, Naing A, et al. Long-term overall survival and prognostic score predicting survival: the IMPACT study in precision medicine. J Hematol Oncol. 2019;12(1):145.

28. Hoefflin R, Geissler AL, Fritsch R, Claus R, Wehrle J, Metzger P, et al. Personalized Clinical Decision Making Through Implementation of a Molecular Tumor Board: A German Single-Center Experience. JCO Precis Oncol. 2018;2

29. Groisberg R, Hong DS, Roszik J, Janku F, Tsimberidou AM, Javle M, et al. Clinical Next-Generation Sequencing for Precision Oncology in Rare Cancers. Mol Cancer Ther. 2018;17(7):1595-1601.

30. Huey RW, Shah AT, Reddi HV, Dasari P, Topham JT, Hwang H, et al. Feasibility and value of genomic profiling in cancer of unknown primary: real-world evidence from prospective profiling study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2023;115(8):994-997.

31. Jiao XD, Qin BD, Wang Z, Liu K, Wu Y, Ling Y, et al. Targeted therapy for intractable cancer on the basis of molecular profiles: An open-label, phase II basket trial (Long March Pathway). Front Oncol. 2023;13860711.

32. Ozdogan M, Papadopoulou E, Tsoulos N, Tsantikidi A, Mariatou VM, Tsaousis G, et al. Comprehensive tumor molecular profile analysis in clinical practice. BMC Med Genomics. 2021;14(1):105.

33. Kato S, Kurasaki K, Ikeda S and Kurzrock R. Rare Tumor Clinic: The University of California San Diego Moores Cancer Center Experience with a Precision Therapy Approach. Oncologist. 2018;23(2):171-178.

34. Flaherty KT, Gray RJ, Chen AP, Li S, McShane LM, Patton D, et al. Molecular Landscape and Actionable Alterations in a Genomically Guided Cancer Clinical Trial: National Cancer Institute Molecular Analysis for Therapy Choice (NCI-MATCH). J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(33):3883-3894.

35. Kato S, Kim KH, Lim HJ, Boichard A, Nikanjam M, Weihe E, et al. Real-world data from a molecular tumor board demonstrates improved outcomes with a precision N-of-One strategy. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):4965.

36. Massard C, Michiels S, Ferte C, Le Deley MC, Lacroix L, Hollebecque A, et al. High-Throughput Genomics and Clinical Outcome in Hard-to-Treat Advanced Cancers: Results of the MOSCATO 01 Trial. Cancer Discov. 2017;7(6):586-595.

37. Behel V, Noronha V, Choughule A, Shetty O, Chandrani P, Kapoor A, et al. Impact of Molecular Tumor Board on the Clinical Management of Patients With Cancer. JCO Glob Oncol. 2022;8e2200030.

38. Kondo T, Matsubara J, Quy PN, Fukuyama K, Nomura M, Funakoshi T, et al. Comprehensive genomic profiling for patients with chemotherapy-naive advanced cancer. Cancer Sci. 2021;112(1):296-304.

39. Repetto M, Crimini E, Boscolo Bielo L, Guerini-Rocco E, Ascione L, Bonfanti A, et al. Molecular tumour board at European Institute of Oncology: Report of the first three year activity of an Italian precision oncology experience. Eur J Cancer. 2023;18379-89.

40. Tredan O, Wang Q, Pissaloux D, Cassier P, de la Fouchardiere A, Fayette J, et al. Molecular screening program to select molecular-based recommended therapies for metastatic cancer patients: analysis from the ProfiLER trial. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(5):757-765.

41. Yang M, Forbes ME, Bitting RL, O'Neill SS, Chou PC, Topaloglu U, et al. Incorporating blood-based liquid biopsy information into cancer staging: time for a TNMB system? Ann Oncol. 2018;29(2):311-323.

42. Crews KR, Monte AA, Huddart R, Caudle KE, Kharasch ED, Gaedigk A, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for CYP2D6, OPRM1, and COMT Genotypes and Select Opioid Therapy. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2021;110(4):888-896.

43. Fan T, Zhang M, Yang J, Zhu Z, Cao W and Dong C. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: advancements, challenges, and prospects. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2023;8(1):450.

44. Yao R, Xie C and Xia X. Recent progress in mRNA cancer vaccines. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2024;20(1):2307187.

45. Weber JS, Carlino MS, Khattak A, Meniawy T, Ansstas G, Taylor MH, et al. Individualised neoantigen therapy mRNA-4157 (V940) plus pembrolizumab versus pembrolizumab monotherapy in resected melanoma (KEYNOTE-942): a randomised, phase 2b study. Lancet. 2024;403(10427):632-644.

46. Rojas LA, Sethna Z, Soares KC, Olcese C, Pang N, Patterson E, et al. Personalized RNA neoantigen vaccines stimulate T cells in pancreatic cancer. Nature. 2023;618(7963):144-150.

47. Zhang J, Walsh MF, Wu G, Edmonson MN, Gruber TA, Easton J, et al. Germline Mutations in Predisposition

Genes in Pediatric Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(24):2336-2346.

48. Akhavanfard S, Padmanabhan R, Yehia L, Cheng F and Eng C. Comprehensive germline genomic profiles of children, adolescents and young adults with solid tumors. Nature Communications. 2020;11(1):2206.

49. Vladoiu MC, El-Hamamy I, Donovan LK, Farooq H, Holgado BL, Sundaravadanam Y, et al. Childhood cerebellar tumours mirror conserved fetal transcriptional programs. Nature. 2019;572(7767):67-73.

50. Newman S, Nakitandwe J, Kesserwan CA, Azzato EM, Wheeler DA, Rusch M, et al. Genomes for Kids: The Scope of Pathogenic Mutations in Pediatric Cancer Revealed by Comprehensive DNA and RNA Sequencing. Cancer Discov. 2021;11(12):3008-3027.

51. Wadensten E, Wessman S, Abel F, Ståhl TDD, Tesi B, Pietras CO, et al. Diagnostic Yield From a Nationwide Implementation of Precision Medicine for all Children With Cancer. JCO Precision Oncology. 2023;(7):e2300039.

52. George SL, Izquierdo E, Campbell J, Koutroumanidou E, Proszek P, Jamal S, et al. A tailored molecular profiling programme for children with cancer to identify clinically actionable genetic alterations. Eur J Cancer. 2019;121224-235.

53. Comitani F, Nash JO, Cohen-Gogo S, Chang AI, Wen TT, Maheshwari A, et al. Diagnostic classification of childhood cancer using multiscale transcriptomics. Nat Med. 2023;29(3):656-666.

54. Church AJ, Corson LB, Kao PC, Imamovic-Tuco A, Reidy D, Doan D, et al. Molecular profiling identifies targeted therapy opportunities in pediatric solid cancer. Nat Med. 2022;28(8):1581-1589.

55. Caffrey RG. Advocating for equitable management of hereditary cancer syndromes. J Genet Couns. 2022;31(3):584-589.

56. Khoury MJ, Bowen S, Dotson WD, Drzymalla E, Green RF, Goldstein R, et al. Health equity in the implementation of genomics and precision medicine: A public health imperative. Genet Med. 2022;24(8):1630-1639.

57. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2019. Cancer in Australia 2019. Accessed: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/</u> reports/cancer/in-australia-2019

58. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2018. Cancer in Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander people of Australia. Accessed: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer/cancer-in-indigenous-australians</u>

59. Clark JR, Buck J, Richards-Satour A, Lyons L and Brown A. Towards precision cancer medicine for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cancer health equity. Medical Journal of Australia. 2024;221(1):68-73.

60. Bullen J, Hill-Wall T, Anderson K, Brown A, Bracknell C, Newnham EA, et al. From deficit to strength-based Aboriginal health research—moving toward flourishing. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2023;20(7):5395.

61. Yehuda R and Lehrner A. Intergenerational transmission of trauma effects: putative role of epigenetic mechanisms. World Psychiatry. 2018;17(3):243-257.

62. Butow PN, Phillips F, Schweder J, White K, Underhill C and Goldstein D. Psychosocial well-being and supportive care needs of cancer patients living in urban and rural/regional areas: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2012;20(1):1-22.

63. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2023. Rural and remote health. Accessed: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/</u> <u>reports/rural-remote-australians/rural-and-remote-health</u>

64. Young AL, Ip E, Scheinberg T, Harrison M, Beale P and Goodwin A. An Australian mainstream genetic testing program: Clinicians views about current and future practices. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2023;

65. Cancer Australia 2023. People from Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Backgrounds. Accessed: 14 March 2024; <u>https://www.australiancancerplan.gov.au/populations/people-from-cald-backgrounds</u>

66. Uebergang E, Best S, de Silva MG and Finlay K. Understanding genomic health information: how to meet the needs of the culturally and linguistically diverse community-a mixed methods study. J Community Genet. 2021;12(4):549-557.

67. Commonwealth of Australia. Closing the Gap National Reforms 2020.

68. Ludwig KK, Neuner J, Butler A, Geurts JL and Kong AL. Risk reduction and survival benefit of prophylactic surgery in BRCA mutation carriers, a systematic review. The American Journal of Surgery. 2016;212(4):660-669.

69. Collins IM, Milne RL, Weideman PC, McLachlan SA, Friedlander ML, Kathleen Cuningham Foundation Consortium for Research into Familial Breast Cancer, et al. Preventing breast and ovarian cancers in high risk BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. Medical Journal of Australia. 2013;199(10):680-683.

70. Lindor NM, Petersen GM, Hadley DW, Kinney AY, Miesfeldt S, Lu KH, et al. Recommendations for the care of individuals with an inherited predisposition to Lynch syndrome: a systematic review. Jama. 2006;296(12):1507-1517.

71. Ballinger ML, Goode DL, Ray-Coquard I, James PA, Mitchell G, Niedermayr E, et al. Monogenic and polygenic determinants of sarcoma risk: an international genetic study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1261-71.

72. Vears DF, Ayres S, Boyle J, Mansour J, Newson AJ, Education E, et al. Human Genetics Society of Australasia Position Statement: Predictive and Presymptomatic Genetic Testing in Adults and Children. Twin Res Hum Genet. 2020;23(3):184-189.

73. Commonwealth of Australia. Evidence Review to Inform Development of the National Framework for Genomics in Cancer Control. 2024

74. Li X, You R, Wang X, Liu C, Xu Z, Zhou J, et al. Effectiveness of prophylactic surgeries in BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Clinical Cancer Research. 2016;22(15):3971-3981.

75. eviQ 2023. Cancer Genetics Protocols. Accessed: https://www.eviq.org.au/cancer-genetics

76. Cancer Institute of New South Wales 13 November 2023. Guide for health professionals ordering genetic testing. Accessed: 10 September 2024 2024; <u>https://www.eviq.org.au/cancer-genetics/resources/3751-guide-for-health-professionals-ordering-genet#</u>

77. Samadder NJ, Riegert-Johnson D, Boardman L, Rhodes D, Wick M, Okuno S, et al. Comparison of Universal Genetic Testing vs Guideline-Directed Targeted Testing for Patients With Hereditary Cancer Syndrome. JAMA Oncol. 2021;7(2):230-237.

78. Bolt I, Bunnik EM, Tromp K, Pashayan N, Widschwendter M and de Beaufort I. Prevention in the age of personal responsibility: epigenetic risk-predictive screening for female cancers as a case study. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2021;47(12):

79. Commonwealth of Australia. Population Based Screening Framework. 2018

80. Knoppers BM and Beauvais MJS. Three decades of genetic privacy: a metaphoric journey. Hum Mol Genet. 2021;30(R2):R156-R160.

81. Dodson M and Williamson R. Indigenous peoples and the morality of the Human Genome Diversity Project. Journal of Medical Ethics. 1999;25(2):204.

82. McWhirter R, Nicol D and Savulescu J. Genomics in research and health care with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Monash Bioethics Review. 2015;33(2):203-209.

83. McWhirter R, Hermes A, Huebner S and Brown A. Community Engagement and the Protection-Inclusion Dilemma. The American Journal of Bioethics. 2023;23(6):100-102.

84. Samarasinghe SR, Hoy W, Jadhao S, McMorran BJ, Guchelaar H-J and Nagaraj SH. The pharmacogenomic landscape of an Indigenous Australian population. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2023;14

85. Fatumo S, Chikowore T, Choudhury A, Ayub M, Martin AR and Kuchenbaecker K. A roadmap to increase diversity in genomic studies. Nat Med. 2022;28(2):243-250.

86. Croy S, Ambegaokar M and MacArthur DG. Towards an Inclusive Genomics. 2021;

87. The Garvan Institute of Medical Research 2022. More inclusive genomic resource for diverse Australian communities kickstarted with \$10M from the Australian Government. Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://www.garvan.org.au/news-resources/news/more-inclusive-genomic-resource-for-diverse-australian-communities-kickstarted-with-10m-from-the-australian-government</u>

88. Department of Health and Aged Care. National DNA screening could save lives for people with high-risk hereditary disease gene variants. 2022

89. Lacaze P, Marquina C, Tiller J, Brotchie A, Kang Y-J, Merritt MA, et al. Combined population genomic screening for three high-risk conditions in Australia: a modelling study. eClinicalMedicine. 2023;66

90. National Cancer Institute DoCP Multi-Cancer Detection (MCD) Research. Accessed: 8 September 2024; <u>https://prevention.cancer.gov/major-programs/multi-cancer-detection-mcd-research</u>

91. Turnbull C, Wald N, Sullivan R, Pharoah P, Houlston RS, Aggarwal A, et al. GRAIL-Galleri: why the special treatment? The Lancet. 2024;403(10425):431-432.

92. Wang Y, Tsuo K, Kanai M, Neale BM and Martin AR. Challenges and Opportunities for Developing More Generalizable Polygenic Risk Scores. Annu Rev Biomed Data Sci. 2022;5293-320.

93. The Daffodil Centre 2022. Finding better ways to predict cancer. Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://</u><u>daffodilcentre.org/news/finding-better-ways-to-predict-cancer/</u>

94. Smit AK, Allen M, Beswick B, Butow P, Dawkins H, Dobbinson SJ, et al. Impact of personal genomic risk information on melanoma prevention behaviors and psychological outcomes: a randomized controlled trial. Genet Med. 2021;23(12):2394-2403.

95. Chung DC, Gray DM, Singh H, Issaka RB, Raymond VM, Eagle C, et al. A cell-free DNA blood-based test for colorectal cancer screening. New England Journal of Medicine. 2024;390(11):973-983.

96. Seijo LM, Peled N, Ajona D, Boeri M, Field JK, Sozzi G, et al. Biomarkers in Lung Cancer Screening: Achievements, Promises, and Challenges. J Thorac Oncol. 2019;14(3):343-357.

97. Teuwen LA, Roets E, D'Hoore P, Pauwels P and Prenen H. Comprehensive Genomic Profiling and Therapeutic Implications for Patients with Advanced Cancers: The Experience of an Academic Hospital. Diagnostics (Basel). 2023;13(9):

98. Butow PN, Best MC, Davies G, Schlub T, Napier CE, Bartley N, et al. Psychological impact of comprehensive tumor genomic profiling results for advanced cancer patients. Patient Educ Couns. 2022;105(7):2206-2216.

99. Zehir A, Benayed R, Shah RH, Syed A, Middha S, Kim HR, et al. Mutational landscape of metastatic cancer revealed from prospective clinical sequencing of 10,000 patients. Nat Med. 2017;23(6):703-713.

100. Sicklick JK, Kato S, Okamura R, Schwaederle M, Hahn ME, Williams CB, et al. Molecular profiling of cancer patients enables personalized combination therapy: the I-PREDICT study. Nat Med. 2019;25(5):744-750.

101. Cordova-Delgado M, Pinto MP, Regonesi C, Cereceda L, Reyes JM, Itriago L, et al. Mutational Landscape and Actionable Target Rates on Advanced Stage Refractory Cancer Patients: A Multicenter Chilean Experience. J Pers Med. 2022;12(2):

102. Scheiter A, Hierl F, Luke F, Keil F, Heudobler D, Einhell S, et al. Critical evaluation of molecular tumour board outcomes following 2 years of clinical practice in a Comprehensive Cancer Centre. Br J Cancer. 2023;128(6):1134-1147.

103. Pishvaian MJ, Blais EM, Brody JR, Lyons E, DeArbeloa P, Hendifar A, et al. Overall survival in patients with pancreatic cancer receiving matched therapies following molecular profiling: a retrospective analysis of the Know Your Tumor registry trial. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21(4):508-518.

104. Gounder MM, Agaram NP, Trabucco SE, Robinson V, Ferraro RA, Millis SZ, et al. Clinical genomic profiling in the management of patients with soft tissue and bone sarcoma. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):3406.

105. Best MC, Bartley N, Jacobs C, Juraskova I, Goldstein D, Newson AJ, et al. Patient perspectives on molecular tumor profiling: "Why wouldn't you?". BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):753.

106. Davies G, Butow P, Napier CE, Bartley N, Juraskova I, Meiser B, et al. Advanced Cancer Patient Knowledge of and Attitudes towards Tumor Molecular Profiling. Transl Oncol. 2020;13(9):100799.

107. Shirdarreh M, Aziza O, Pezo RC, Jerzak KJ and Warner E. Patients' and Oncologists' Knowledge and Expectations Regarding Tumor Multigene Next-Generation Sequencing: A Narrative Review. Oncologist. 2021;26(8):e1359-e1371.

108. Butow P, Davies G, Napier CE, Schlub T, Best MC, Bartley N, et al. Assessment of the Value of Tumor Variation Profiling Perceived by Patients With Cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(5):e204721.

109. Ma X, Liu Y, Liu Y, Alexandrov LB, Edmonson MN, Gawad C, et al. Pan-cancer genome and transcriptome analyses of 1,699 paediatric leukaemias and solid tumours. Nature. 2018;555(7696):371-376.

110. Debortoli E, McGahan E, Yanes T, Berkman J, Fuentes-Bolanos N, Milch V, et al. Utility of genomic testing in children, adolescents, and young adults with cancer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2024;

111. Peterson JF, Roden DM, Orlando LA, Ramirez AH, Mensah GA and Williams MS. Building evidence and

measuring clinical outcomes for genomic medicine. Lancet. 2019;394(10198):604-610.

112. Wong M, Mayoh C, Lau LMS, Khuong-Quang DA, Pinese M, Kumar A, et al. Whole genome, transcriptome and methylome profiling enhances actionable target discovery in high-risk pediatric cancer. Nat Med. 2020;26(11):1742-1753.

113. Villani A, Davidson S, Kanwar N, Lo WW, Li Y, Cohen-Gogo S, et al. The clinical utility of integrative genomics in childhood cancer extends beyond targetable mutations. Nat Cancer. 2023;4(2):203-221.

114. Berlanga P, Pierron G, Lacroix L, Chicard M, Adam de Beaumais T, Marchais A, et al. The European MAPPYACTS Trial: Precision Medicine Program in Pediatric and Adolescent Patients with Recurrent Malignancies. Cancer Discov. 2022;12(5):1266-1281.

115. van Tilburg CM, Pfaff E, Pajtler KW, Langenberg KPS, Fiesel P, Jones BC, et al. The Pediatric Precision Oncology INFORM Registry: Clinical Outcome and Benefit for Patients with Very High-Evidence Targets. Cancer Discov. 2021;11(11):2764-2779.

116. Langenberg KPS, Meister MT, Bakhuizen JJ, Boer JM, van Eijkelenburg NKA, Hulleman E, et al. Implementation of paediatric precision oncology into clinical practice: The Individualized Therapies for Children with cancer program 'iTHER'. Eur J Cancer. 2022;175311-325.

117. Schuurhuis GJ, Heuser M, Freeman S, Béné M-C, Buccisano F, Cloos J, et al. Minimal/measurable residual disease in AML: a consensus document from the European LeukemiaNet MRD Working Party. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2018;131(12):1275-1291.

118. Kruse A, Abdel-Azim N, Kim HN, Ruan Y, Phan V, Ogana H, et al. Minimal residual disease detection in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. International journal of molecular sciences. 2020;21(3):1054.

119. Tiong IS and Loo S. Targeting measurable residual disease (MRD) in acute myeloid leukemia (AML): moving beyond prognostication. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2023;24(5):4790.

120. Bestvina CM, Waters D, Morrison L, Emond B, Lafeuille M-H, Hilts A, et al. Cost of genetic testing, delayed care, and suboptimal treatment associated with polymerase chain reaction versus next-generation sequencing biomarker testing for genomic alterations in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Journal of Medical Economics. 2024;27(1):292-303.

121. Commonwealth of Australia. Australian Cancer Plan. 2023

122. Acuña-Villaorduña A, Baranda JC, Boehmer J, Fashoyin-Aje L and Gore SD. Equitable Access to Clinical Trials: How Do We Achieve It? American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book. 2023;(43):e389838.

123. The Hon Ged Kearney MP Assistant Minister for Health and Aged Care Assistant Minister for Indigenous Health. The Australian Government investing in First Nations-led cancer research. 2024

124. Multinational Association of Supportive Care Supportive Care Makes Excellent Cancer Care Possible. Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://mascc.org/about-mascc/#:~:text=What%20is%20Supportive%20Care%3F,Read%20</u> <u>more</u>

125. Shriver SP, Adams D, McKelvey BA, McCune JS, Miles D, Pratt VM, et al. Overcoming Barriers to Discovery and Implementation of Equitable Pharmacogenomic Testing in Oncology. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2024;42(10):1181-1192.

126. Innocenti F. Bringing a genomic perspective to the safety of drug treatment in oncology. F1000Res. 2017;6

127. Kastner AM, Fischer-Jacobs J, Brederecke J, Hahne A and Zimmermann T. Distress, anxiety, and depression in persons with hereditary cancer syndromes: Results from a nationwide cross-sectional study in Germany. Cancer Med. 2023;12(12):13701-13711.

128. Coyne I. P358 How can we promote better care for children with cancer ? Discussion of a child- and family-centred care approach for each stage of the child and families treatment journey. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2019;104(Suppl 3):A300-A300.

129. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Psychosocial Services to Cancer Patients/Families in a Community Setting. Cancer Care for the Whole Patient: Meeting Psychosocial Health Needs. National Academies Press (US), 2008

130. Human Genetics Society of Australasia. Core Capabilities in Genetics & Genomics for Medical Graduates. 2022

131. National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation 2023. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cancer Plan. Accessed: <u>https://www.naccho.org.au/app/uploads/2024/02/NACCHO_CancerPlan_Oct2023_FA_online.pdf</u>

132. Chan RJ, Milch VE, Crawford-Williams F, Agbejule OA, Joseph R, Johal J, et al. Patient navigation across the cancer care continuum: an overview of systematic reviews and emerging literature. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2023;73(6):565-589.

133. Wong AK, Somogyi AA, Rubio J and Philip J. The Role of Pharmacogenomics in Opioid Prescribing. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2022;23(10):1353-1369.

134. Kong X, Yu D, Wang Z and Li S. Relationship between p53 status and the bioeffect of ionizing radiation. Oncol Lett. 2021;22(3):661.

135. Innocenti F, Mills SC, Sanoff H, Ciccolini J, Lenz HJ and Milano G. All You Need to Know About DPYD Genetic Testing for Patients Treated With Fluorouracil and Capecitabine: A Practitioner-Friendly Guide. JCO Oncol Pract. 2020;16(12):793-798.

136. Rao M. Pharmacogenomics in Palliative Medicine. Indian J Palliat Care. 2019;25(2):169-171.

137. Bull JH, Bice T, Satterwhite WJ, Massie L, Burpee E, Knotkova H, et al. Feasibility and Acceptability of a Pharmacogenomic Decision Support System in Palliative Care. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2021;25(2):219-226.

138. Reizine NM and O'Donnell PH. Modern developments in germline pharmacogenomics for oncology prescribing. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2022;72(4):315-332.

139. Moriyama B, Obeng AO, Barbarino J, Penzak SR, Henning SA, Scott SA, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for CYP2C19 and voriconazole therapy. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2017;102(1):45-51.

140. Carrera PM, Curigliano G, Santini D, Sharp L, Chan RJ, Pisu M, et al. ESMO expert consensus statements on the screening and management of financial toxicity in patients with cancer. ESMO Open. 2024;9(5):102992.

141. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia 2023. Financial Toxicity in Cancer Care. Accessed: <u>https://www.cosa.org.</u> <u>au/media/ntmlrjid/cosa-financial-toxicity-in-cancer-care-think-tank-report-final.pdf</u> 142. Healthdirect Australia 2024. Travellling to yout healthcare appointment. Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/travelling-to-your-healthcare-appointment</u>

143. Evohealth 2023. CAR T-cell therapy: Is Australia ready, willing and able? White paper. Accessed: 30 October 2024; <u>https://www.evohealth.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/2023_CAR-T_Ready_Willing_Able.pdf</u>

144. Global Genomics Medicine Collaborative 2020. Public Education & Awareness. Accessed: 7 September 2024; <u>https://www.genomicspolicy.org/public-education-awareness</u>

145. Nisselle A, Terrill B, Janinski M, Martyn M, Jordan H, Kaunein N, et al. Ensuring best practice in genomics education: A theory- and empirically informed evaluation framework. The American Journal of Human Genetics. 2024;111(8):1497-1507.

146. Australian Genomics 2018. Perspectives of Education Providers on Education & Training Needs of Non-Genomic Health Professionals. Accessed: <u>https://www.australiangenomics.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/</u> <u>AGHA-P4-Education-provider-interviews_tech-report_20180924.pdf</u>

147. Shickh S, Leventakos K, Lewis MA, Bombard Y and Montori VM. Shared Decision Making in the Care of Patients With Cancer. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book. 2023;(43):e389516.

148. Piniewski-Bond J, Celestino P, Mahoney MC, Farrell CD, Bauer JE, Hastrup JL, et al. A cancer genetics education campaign: delivering parallel messages to clinicians and the public. J Cancer Educ. 2003;18(2):96-9.

149. Giri VN, Shimada A and Leader AE. Predictors of Population Awareness of Cancer Genetic Tests: Implications for Enhancing Equity in Engaging in Cancer Prevention and Precision Medicine. JCO Precision Oncology. 2021;(5):1699-1708.

150. Anderson K, Gall A, Butler T, Ngampromwongse K, Hector D, Turnbull S, et al. Development of Key Principles and Best Practices for Co-Design in Health with First Nations Australians. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;20(1):

151. National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation & The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. NACCHO–RACGP Partnership Project – Ways of Working Framework. 2021

152. Gaudry AJ. Insurgent research. Wicazo Sa Review. 2011;26(1):113-136.

153. Garrison NA, Hudson M, Ballantyne LL, Garba I, Martinez A, Taualii M, et al. Genomic research through an indigenous lens: understanding the expectations. Annual review of genomics and human genetics. 2019;20(1):495-517.

154. Knoppers BM and Beauvais MJS. Three decades of genetic privacy: a metaphoric journey. Human Molecular Genetics. 2021;30(R2):R156-R160.

155. Tapia KA, Garvey G, Mc Entee M, Rickard M and Brennan P. Breast Cancer in Australian Indigenous Women: Incidence, Mortality, and Risk Factors. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention. 2017;18(4):873-884.

156. Cancer Australia. Optimal care pathway for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with cancer, 2024

157. Graffini J, Johnston K, Farrington A, McPhail SM and Larkins S. The Australian clinical trial landscape: Perceptions of rural, regional and remote health service capacity and capability. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2024;22(1):171. 158. Australian Genomics National Approach to Genomic Information Management (NAGIM). Implementation Recommendations. Accessed: <u>https://www.australiangenomics.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/NAGIM-Implementation-Recommendations_January-2023.pdf</u>

159. Carroll SR, Garba I, Figueroa-Rodríguez OL, Holbrook J, Lovett R, Materechera S, et al. The CARE principles for indigenous data governance. Open Scholarship Press Curated Volumes: Policy. 2023;

160. Australian Research Data Commons CARE Principles. Accessed: 30 October 2024; <u>https://ardc.edu.au/</u> resource/the-care-principles/

161. Maiam nayri Wingara. Indigenous Data Sovereignty Communique. Indigenous Data Sovereignty Summit. 2018

162. Casolino R, Beer PA, Chakravarty D, Davis MB, Malapelle U, Mazzarella L, et al. Interpreting and integrating genomic tests results in clinical cancer care: Overview and practical guidance. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2024;74(3):264-285.

163. DeMarco TA, Smith KL, Nusbaum RH, Peshkin BN, Schwartz MD and Isaacs C. Practical aspects of delivering hereditary cancer risk counseling. Semin Oncol. 2007;34(5):369-78.

164. Barlow-Stewart K, Dunlop K, Fleischer R, Shalhoub C and Williams R. The NSW Genetic Counselling Workforce: Background Information Paper: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Centre for the NSW Ministry of Health <u>http://www.saxinstitute.ora.au/wp-content/uploads.The-NSW Genetic-Counsellina-Workforce</u> June2016. pdf Accessed. 2017;28

165. State of Queensland (Queensland Health). Statewide Genetic Health Queensland Service Plan 2017–2022. 2017

166. Nisselle A, King E, Terrill B, Davey B, McClaren B, Dunlop K, et al. Investigating genomic medicine practice and perceptions amongst Australian non-genetics physicians to inform education and implementation. NPJ Genomic Medicine. 2023;8(1):13.

167. George A, Riddell D, Seal S, Talukdar S, Mahamdallie S, Ruark E, et al. Implementing rapid, robust, costeffective, patient-centred, routine genetic testing in ovarian cancer patients. Scientific reports. 2016;6(1):29506.

168. Kentwell M, Dow E, Antill Y, Wrede CD, McNally O, Higgs E, et al. Mainstreaming cancer genetics: a model integrating germline BRCA testing into routine ovarian cancer clinics. Gynecologic oncology. 2017;145(1):130-136.

169. Berkman J, DeBortoli E, Steinberg J, Milch V, Yanes T and McInerney-Leo A. Mainstreaming Cancer Genomic Testing: A Scoping Review of the Acceptability, Efficacy, and Impact. Clinical Genetics. 2024;

170. Schienda J and Stopfer J. Cancer Genetic Counseling-Current Practice and Future Challenges. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2020;10(6):

171. Luke J, Dalach P, Tuer L, Savarirayan R, Ferdinand A, McGaughran J, et al. Investigating disparity in access to Australian clinical genetic health services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Nature Communications. 2022;13(1):4966.

172. Lowitija Institute. Better Indigenous Genetic (BIG) Health Services project - Policy Brief. 2000.

173. McAvoy BR, Elwood M and Fletcher J. Cancer education and training in primary health care: a national audit of training providers. Australian family physician. 2007;36(11):

174. Cusack M, Hickerton C, Nisselle A, McClaren B, Terrill B, Gaff C, et al. General practitioners' views on genomics, practice and education: A qualitative interview study. Australian Journal for General Practitioners. 2021;50747-752.

175. Paneque M, Cornel MC, Curtisova V, Houwink E, Jackson L, Kent A, et al. Implementing genetic education in primary care: the Gen-Equip programme. Journal of Community Genetics. 2017;8(2):147-150.

176. Cancer Institute of New South Wales General practitioner referral guidelines for cancer genetics assessment. Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://www.eviq.org.au/cancer-genetics/referral-guidelines/1147-general-practitioner-referral-guidelines-for</u>

177. Cancer Institute of New South Wales 2025. Mainstreaming genetic testing for oncology teams: A focus on genetic testing in cancer patients. Accessed: 13 January <u>https://education.eviq.org.au/courses/tumour-specific/mainstreaming-genetic-testing-for-oncology-teams</u>

178. Friend P, Dickman E and Calzone K. Using a genomics taxonomy: facilitating patient care safety and quality in the era of precision oncology. Clinical journal of oncology nursing. 2021;25(2):205.

179. NSW Government NH What is Value Based Healthcare? Accessed: 9 September 2024; <u>https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/Value/Pages/about.aspx</u>

180. Hurst L, Mahtani K, Pluddemann A, Lewis S, Harvey K, Briggs A, et al. Defining Value-based Healthcare in the NHS. Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Report 2019/04. 2019;(4):

181. Gong J, Pan K, Fakih M, Pal S and Salgia R. Value-based genomics. Oncotarget. 2018;9(21):15792-15815.

182. The Hon Stephen Jones MP ATaMfFS. Total ban on the use of adverse genetic testing results in life insurance. 2024

183. Tiller J, Bakshi A, Dowling G, Keogh L, McInerney-Leo A, Barlow-Stewart K, et al. Community concerns about genetic discrimination in life insurance persist in Australia: A survey of consumers offered genetic testing. European Journal of Human Genetics. 2024;32(3):286-294.

184. Pulivarti R, Pulivarti R, Martin N, Byers FR, Wagner J, Zook J, et al. Cybersecurity of Genomic Data. US Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2023

185. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Standing Committee of the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. AHMAC, 2016

186. Schneider KA, Chittenden AB, Branda KJ, Keenan MA, Joffe S, Patenaude AF, et al. Ethical issues in cancer genetics: 1) Whose information is it? Journal of Genetic Counseling. 2006;15491-503.

187. Smit AK, Gokoolparsadh A, McWhirter R, Newett L, Milch V, Hermes A, et al. Ethical, legal and social issues related to genetics and genomics in cancer: a scoping review and narrative synthesis. Genetics in Medicine. 2024;101270.

188. Knowles R. Repatriated blood samples start conversation around Indigenous genomics. 2021

189. Lowitija Institute. Indigenous Data Sovereignty Readiness Assessment and Evaluation Toolkit.

190. Li MM, Datto M, Duncavage EJ, Kulkarni S, Lindeman NI, Roy S, et al. Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation and Reporting of Sequence Variants in Cancer: A Joint Consensus Recommendation of the

Association for Molecular Pathology, American Society of Clinical Oncology, and College of American Pathologists. J Mol Diagn. 2017;19(1):4-23.